### Accepted Manuscript

Title: Cdk5: multitasking between physiological and pathological conditions

Authors: Joao P. Lopes, Paula Agostinho

PII: DOI: Reference:	S0301-0082(11)00044-X doi:10.1016/j.pneurobio.2011.03.006 PRONEU 1094
To appear in:	Progress in Neurobiology
Received date:	10-8-2010
Revised date:	28-3-2011
Accepted date:	28-3-2011



Please cite this article as: Lopes, J.P., Agostinho, P., Cdk5: multitasking between physiological and pathological conditions, *Progress in Neurobiology* (2008), doi:10.1016/j.pneurobio.2011.03.006

This is a PDF file of an unedited manuscript that has been accepted for publication. As a service to our customers we are providing this early version of the manuscript. The manuscript will undergo copyediting, typesetting, and review of the resulting proof before it is published in its final form. Please note that during the production process errors may be discovered which could affect the content, and all legal disclaimers that apply to the journal pertain.

# CDK5: MULTITASKING BETWEEN PHYSIOLOGICAL AND PATHOLOGICAL CONDITIONS

Joao P. Lopes<sup>(1)(2)</sup> and Paula Agostinho<sup>(1)</sup>

 <sup>(1)</sup> Center for Neuroscience and Cell Biology, Faculty of Medicine, Biochemistry Institute University of Coimbra, 3004 Coimbra
 Portugal
 Tel. 351 239 820190
 Fax. 351 239 822776

<sup>(2)</sup> Istituto Italiano di Tecnologia
D3- Drug Discovery and Development
Via Morego, 30
16163 Genova
Italy
Tel. +39 01071781920
Fax. +39 010 7170187

Correspondence address:

João Pedro Lopes, <u>joao.lopes@iit.it</u> Istituto Italiano di Tecnologia D3- Drug Discovery and Development Via Morego, 30 16163 Genova Italy Tel. +39 01071781920 Fax. +39 010 7170187

### TABLE OF CONTENTS

### ABSTRACT

- 1. INTRODUCTION
- 1.1. The Cdk family
- 1.2. Cdk5: different between equals
- 1.3. The physiological functions of Cdk5
- 2. CDK5 IN NEURODEGENERATION
- 2.1. Cdk5 dysregulation: when things go wrong
- 2.2. Cdk5 and Alzheimer's disease: two old acquaintances
- 2.2.1. Cdk5 and A $\beta$  generation
- 2.2.2. Cdk5 and tau pathology
- 2.3. Cdk5 dysregulation in other neurodegenerative conditions: causes and consequences
- 2.3.1 Cdk5 in prion diseases
- 2.3.2 Cdk5 in Parkinson's disease
- 2.3.3 Cdk5 in other neurological disorders
- 3. CDK5 AND THE CELL CYCLE
- 3.1. The cell cycle: Cdks in control
- 3.2. Cdk5 and cell cycle re-entry: a new pathway to degeneration
- 4. CDK5 AT THE SYNAPSES: FUNCTIONS AND DYSFUNCTION
- 5. STRATEGIES TO CONTROL CDK5 AND CONCLUSIONS
- 6. REFERENCES
- 7. FIGURE LEGENDS

#### ABSTRACT

Cyclin-dependent kinase 5 (Cdk5) is a peculiar proline-directed serine/threonine kinase. Unlike the other members of the Cdk family, Cdk5 is not directly involved in cell cycle regulation, being normally associated to neuronal processes such as migration, cortical layering and synaptic plasticity. This kinase is present mainly in post-mitotic neurons and its activity is tightly regulated by the interaction with the specific activators, p35 and p39.

Despite its pivotal role in CNS development, Cdk5 dysregulation has been implicated in different pathologies, such as Alzheimer's disease (AD), amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS), Parkinson's disease (PD) and, most recently, prion-related encephalopathies (PRE). In these neurodegenerative conditions, Cdk5 overactivation and relocalization occurs upon association with p25, a truncated form of the normal activator p35. This activator switching will cause a shift in the phosphorylative pattern of Cdk5, with an alteration both in targets and activity, ultimately leading to neuronal demise.

In AD and PRE, two disorders that share clinical and neuropathological features, Cdk5 dysregulation is a linking event between the major neuropathological markers: amyloid plaques, tau hyperphosphorylation and synaptic and neuronal loss. Moreover, this kinase was shown to be involved in abortive cell cycle re-entry, a feature recently proposed as a possible step in the neuronal apoptosis mechanism of several neurological diseases.

This review focuses on the role of Cdk5 in neurons, namely in the regulation of cytoskeletal dynamics, synaptic function and cell survival, both in physiological and in pathological conditions, highlighting the relevance of Cdk5 in the main mechanisms of neurodegeneration in Alzheimer's disease and other brain pathologies.

#### **1. INTRODUCTION**

### 1.1. The Cdk family

The cyclin-dependent kinase (Cdk) family is composed of 9 small (30-35 kDa) serine/threonine kinases, numbered according to their discovery, from Cdk1 to Cdk9 (Morgan, 1997). The biological functions of Cdks are vast, going from mitosis to the regulation of cellular processes such as differentiation, senescence and apoptosis, through modification of gene transcription (Tannoch *et al.*, 2000). In proliferating cells, Cdk dysregulation is associated with tumour formation, whereas their disappearance/inhibition in neuronal precursors coincides with terminal differentiation (Okano *et al.*, 1993). Generally, in order to be activated, Cdks need to associate with regulatory subunits named cyclins. Although specific Cdks are linked to different phases of the cell cycle, their activities can sometimes overlap, depending on the association with different cyclins (Morgan, 1997; Nguyen *et al.*, 2002; Nigg, 2001).

Cdk activity can also be regulated by two other distinct mechanisms. A set of phosphorylation and dephosphorylation events primes Cdks for activation by regulatory subunits, as can be seen in the case of the Cdk4/cyclin D1 complex, which only becomes active after phosphorylation by the Cdk-activating kinase (CAK) (Diehl and Sherr, 1997; Kato *et al.*, 1994). Furthermore, a family of Cdk-inhibitory subunits (CKIs) can bind to and inactivate the Cdk-cyclin complex (Golias *et al.*, 2004; Pavletich, 1999; Peter, 1997).

### 1.2. Cdk5: different between equals

Cdk5 is an unusual member of the Cdk family (Dhariwala and Rajadhyaksha, 2008). Unlike the other Cdks, this serine-threonine kinase does not exert a direct control over the cell cycle (Dhavan and Tsai, 2001), although it has been shown that Cdk5 can phosphorylate the retinoblastoma protein (Rb), a major intervenient in cell cycle progression (Hamdane *et al.*, 2005). Similarly to the other members of its group, Cdk5 needs to associate with a regulatory subunit in order to be activated. However, this kinase does not associate with cyclins, but with the neuron-specific activators p35 and p39 (Tang *et al.*, 1995; Tsai *et al.*, 1994), which are structurally similar to cyclins, yet share no

homology at the amino acid level. Furthermore, Cdk5 does not require any additional phosphorylation in order to become active, although the phosphorylation at Tyr15 by Src-related tyrosine kinases can increase the activity of this protein (Zukerberg *et al.*, 2000).

Despite the widespread expression throughout the organism, enzymatic activity of Cdk5 is more prominent in the CNS, since the expression of this kinase and its activators is highest in postmitotic neurons (Hisanaga and Endo, 2010; Nguyen *et al.*, 2002; Zheng *et al.*, 1998). The spacial and temporal expression of p35 and p39 appear to be complementary, with studies indicating that in growth cones, synapses and in detergent-insoluble cytoskeleton and membrane fractions they localize in distinct subcellular compartments that can be overlapped (Asada *et al.*, 2008; Humbert *et al.*, 2000a; Humbert *et al.*, 2000b; Paglini *et al.*, 1998), However, it remains unclear whether the two activators can confer substrate specificity to Cdk5. Interestingly, although p39 can compensate for some functions of p35, the absence of p39 can be masked by p35, as confirmed by the lack of obvious detectable abnormalities in p39-null mice (Ko *et al.*, 2001).

Cdk5 activators p35 and p39 are relatively unstable proteins. Studies in neuronal cultures show that the half-life of p35 is approximately 20-30 minutes (Patrick *et al.*, 1998). The levels of these proteins are regulated by their synthesis and degradation, and the expression of p35 was shown to be induced by extracellular stimuli. *In vitro* studies revealed that the extracellular matrix glycoprotein laminin can trigger an increase, not only in p35 mRNA, but also in protein levels, leading to an augment of Cdk5 activity (Paglini *et al.*, 1998). Neurotrophic factors, like nerve growth factor (NGF) and brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF), also cause an upregulation of p35 expression (Harada *et al.*, 2001; Tokuoka *et al.*, 2000). In order to be degraded, p35 is multi-ubiquitylated and processed via the ubiquitin-proteasome pathway. Interestingly, when Cdk5 activity is blocked, the stability of p35 is largely maintained and the half-life of this activator is increased (Kerokoski *et al.*, 2002), as demonstrated in Cdk5 dominant negative mutants that lack p35 phosphorylation (Patrick *et al.*, 1998), which can suggest a negative feedback mechanism for the regulation of Cdk5. Furthermore, the phosphorylation status of p35 also influences the membrane association of the Cdk5/p35 complex (Sato *et al.*, 2007). The interaction of this complex with the

membrane is a possible regulatory mechanism of Cdk5, since it has been shown that membrane-bound Cdk5/p35 is inactive, whereas the cytoplasmic complex is the active form (Zhu *et al.*, 2005). Moreover, a recent study showed that membrane association facilitates degradation of p35 and p39 (Minegishi *et al.*, 2010)

#### 1.3. The physiological functions of Cdk5

Although it has been demonstrated that Cdk5 has a functional role in different organs and cell types (Daval *et al.*, 2011; Feldmann *et al.*, 2010; Lin *et al.*, 2009; Pallari *et al.*, 2011; Shimomura *et al.*, 2011), the vast majority of known actions for this kinase is associated with its activity at the CNS level (Hisanaga and Endo, 2010; Jessberger *et al.*, 2009; Lalioti *et al.*, 2010; Tsai *et al.*, 1993)}.

Gene-targeting experiments have demonstrated that Cdk5 plays a pivotal role in the cytoarchitecture of CNS. Indeed, Cdk5-deficient mice die just before or after birth, displaying widespread disruptions in neuronal layering of many brain structures, such as the cerebral cortex, hippocampus, cerebellum and olfactory bulb, indicating that neuronal migration is affected (Adle-Biassette et al., 2006; Gilmore et al., 1998; Ohshima et al., 1999; Ohshima et al., 1996). In a recent report, Jessberger and colleagues demonstrated that the knockdown of Cdk5 leads to the aberrant growth of dendritic processes, which is associated with an altered migration pattern of newborn cells in the hippocampus (Jessberger et al., 2008). In the cerebral cortex, Cdk5 deficiency causes an inversion of the neuronal laminar organization (Tanaka et al., 2001). Similarly, p35 null mice (p35 -/-) show a similar inverted cortical layering, although the hippocampus only suffers minor disruption and the cerebellum is unaffected (Chae et al., 1997; Kwon and Tsai, 1998; Kwon et al., 1999). In contrast to Cdk5 -/- mice, p35 -/- animals are viable and fertile, although they have increased susceptibility to seizures. The apparent discrepancy in the phenotypes of the p35 -/- and Cdk5 -/- mice can be explained by the compensatory role of p39. While p39-deficient mice (p39 -/-) do not show any noticeable defects, the phenotype of the p35/p39 double-mutant mice (p35 -/- and p39 -/-) is indistinguishable from that of Cdk5 -/- mice (Ko et al., 2001).

A crucial role for Cdk5 in corticogenesis is supported by observations showing that this kinase promotes migration by acting positively on pro-migratory signals, and possibly by antagonizing anti-migratory signals. In fact, Cdk5 has been identified as a regulator of neuroblast migration in the postnatal subventricular zone (Hirasawa *et al.*, 2004; Hirota *et al.*, 2007). In cultured primary neurons, the reduction of Cdk5 activity by expressing dominant-negative Cdk5 mutants, or by using antisense oligonucleotides of Cdk5, p35 or p39, inhibits neurite outgrowth (Nikolic *et al.*, 1996). Defects observed in fasciculation of several prominent axon tracts of p35- mutant mice also suggest a role for Cdk5 in axonal guidance and targeting (Kwon *et al.*, 1999). The regulation of microtubule and intermediate-filament cytoskeletal components by Cdk5 also implicates this kinase in the modulation of cell adhesion and of intracellular signalling and transport (Dhavan and Tsai, 2001). Indeed, amongst the substrates of Cdk5 are several proteins involved in axonal transport, such as the microtubule and neurofilament-associated proteins tau and microtubule-associated protein 1B (MAP1B) (Ahlijanian *et al.*, 2000; Grant *et al.*, 2001; Paglini *et al.*, 1998), as well as NUDEL, a protein proposed to bind to neurofilaments and facilitate their assembly (Holzbaur, 2004; Niethammer *et al.*, 2000).

The regulatory role of Cdk5 in the CNS also extends to several synaptic functions, such as synapse formation, synaptic plasticity, learning and memory. This kinase, as well as p35 and p39, is present in both pre- and postsynaptic compartments (Humbert *et al.*, 2000b; Niethammer *et al.*, 2000). Studies have shown that synapsin 1 and MUNC18, two presynaptic proteins involved in the regulation of exocytosis, are substrates of Cdk5 (Fletcher *et al.*, 1999; Matsubara *et al.*, 1996; Shuang *et al.*, 1998). This kinase is also supposed to be involved in the modulation of synaptic plasticity through the regulation of dendritic spine formation (Cheung and Ip, 2007; Tada and Sheng, 2006). Dendritic spines are small membranous protrusions from a neuron's dendrite that usually receive excitatory input from axons and can be modified by synaptic activity (Bourne and Harris, 2008). Since spines need to rapidly change their volume or shape in response to stimuli, alterations in dendritic spine morphology will depend on the dynamic regulation of the actin cytoskeleton (Schubert and Dotti, 2007; Tada and Sheng, 2006). As a large number of cytoskeleton-binding proteins are Cdk5 substrates

in neurons, it is valid to hypothesize that this kinase plays a role in dendritic spine formation. Indeed, phosphorylation of the Cdk-related protein kinase Pctaire 1 by Cdk5 was shown to modulate the development of dendrites in differentiating neurons (Fu *et al.*, 2011). Furthermore, both spinophilin, which is enriched at dendritic spines and negatively regulates their development (Feng *et al.*, 2000), and its related protein neurabin I, are also phosphorylating targets for Cdk5 (Causeret *et al.*, 2007; Futter *et al.*, 2005), although the functional consequences of this mechanism on spine formation remains to be determined.

An increasing number of reports also points out Cdk5 as an important regulator of the activity of two major neurotransmitter systems, the cholinergic and the glutamatergic (Fu *et al.*, 2001; Fu *et al.*, 2005; Hawasli *et al.*, 2007; Li *et al.*, 2001). In fact, Cdk5 and its activator p35 were shown to co-localize with the acetylcholine receptor on the postsynaptic muscle membrane, where they regulate the trafficking of these receptors (Fu *et al.*, 2001). Interestingly, acetylcholine has been shown to negatively regulate the formation of synapses at the neuromuscular junction through a mechanism involving Cdk5 (Lin *et al.*, 2005). The regulation of synaptic function by Cdk5 is also linked to its action on the glutamatergic neurotransmitter system, through the modulation of N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptor activity. In fact, the conditional Cdk5 knock-out will cause enhanced synaptic plasticity through an increase in the amount of NMDA receptors containing NR2B subunits and in the related excitatory postsynaptic currents (Hawasli *et al.*, 2007). Likewise, NMDA receptor activity can be increased through the phosphorylation of its NR2A subunit by Cdk5 (Li *et al.*, 2001). Dopaminergic signalling is also controlled by Cdk5 through the phosphorylation of dopamine cAMP-regulated phosphoprotein of 32 kDa, DARPP32 (Bibb *et al.*, 1999).

#### 2. CDK5 IN NEURODEGENERATION

#### 2.1. Cdk5 dysregulation: when things go wrong

Although Cdk5 activity is vital for a correct CNS development, as well as several other important physiological nervous system functions, the dysregulation of this kinase has been shown to be involved in the neurodegenerative processes of several diseases, including AD, prion-related

encephalopathies (PRE), Parkinson's disease (PD), amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS) or acute neuronal injury caused by ischemia/stroke (Alvira *et al.*, 2008; Lopes *et al.*, 2007, 2010; Nguyen and Julien, 2003; Slevin and Krupinski, 2009; Tsai *et al.*, 2004).

A main step in Cdk5 dysregulation is the cleavage of the activator proteins p35 and p39 by calpains, a group of Ca<sup>2+</sup>-activated cytosolic proteases (Adle-Biassette et al., 2006; Camins et al., 2006; Kusakawa et al., 2000; Lee et al., 2000; Patrick et al., 1999) (Fig. 1). Calpains participate in various important physiological processes and are crucial in some neuronal functions like learning and memory. Their activation during sustained synaptic activity is vital for Ca<sup>2+</sup>-dependent neuronal functions, such as neurotransmitter release, synaptic plasticity, vesicular trafficking and structural stabilization (Liu et al., 2008a; Wu and Lynch, 2006; Zadran et al., 2010). Several studies suggest the involvement of calpains in different neurodegenerative conditions, including some where Cdk5 dysregulation also occurs, like stroke, PD or AD (Alvira et al., 2006; Araujo et al., 2010; Bano and Nicotera, 2007; Camins et al., 2006; Grammer et al., 2008; Langou et al., 2010; Raynaud and Marcilhac, 2006; Yadavalli et al., 2004). Indeed, Cdk5 dysregulation in AD and PRE is intimately related to calpains overactivation (Liang et al., 2010; Lopes et al., 2007). The dependence of Ca2+ for activation makes calpains vulnerable to changes in the homeostasis of this ion and turns calpains into important elements of neurodegeneration (Araujo et al., 2010; Ferreiro et al., 2006; Green et al., 2007; Lopes et al., 2007; Raynaud and Marcilhac, 2006; Resende et al., 2007). In fact, the imbalance in intracellular  $Ca^{2+}$  levels occurs both through the entry from the extracellular space via NMDA and AMPA receptors (Alberdi et al., 2010), and by the release of this ion from the intracellular compartments, namely the endoplasmic reticulum (Ferreiro et al., 2006; Resende et al., 2008) (Fig. 1).

Calpain cleavage of p35 and p39 generates, respectively, p25 and p29. These truncated Cdk5 activators show distinct properties from their original precursors. The half-life times of p25 and p29 are significantly longer than p35 and p39 (around 3-fold increase) (Patrick *et al.*, 1998) and the binding of these cleaved activators to the kinase is stronger (Amin *et al.*, 2002), resulting in increased Cdk5 activity when compared to Cdk5/p35 (or p39). Furthermore, p25 and p29 lack an amino-terminal myristoilation site, which will cause the Cdk5/p25 (or p29) complex to exhibit a different

subcellular localization, passing from the cellular periphery (mainly in the synapses) to a more perinuclear region (in the cell body), thus altering the substrates phosphorylated by this kinase (Asada *et al.*, 2008; Kusakawa *et al.*, 2000; Patrick *et al.*, 1999). Interestingly, when p35 is phosphorylated by Cdk5, the calpain-mediated cleavage of this activator is reduced, suggesting that that the formation Cdk5/p25 complex can be autoregulated (Saito *et al.*, 2003).

When dysregulated, Cdk5 hyperphosphorylates the cytoskeleton protein tau (Ahlijanian et al., 2000; Lopes et al., 2010; Plattner et al., 2006), causing its release from the microtubules and accumulation in the form of cytoplasmic filaments and tangles (Alonso et al., 2001; Grundke-Iqbal et al., 1986a) (Fig. 1). This is caused by the change in substrate specificity of Cdk5, derived from its association with p25. Indeed, major evidences regarding the involvement of p25/Cdk5 in neurodegeneration were also obtained from p25-transgenic mouse models (Ahlijanian et al., 2000; Cruz et al., 2003). Cruz and colleagues demonstrated that in p25-overexpressing animals, endogenous tau is hyperphosphorylated at different epitopes and the accumulation of aggregated tau and neurofibrillary pathology progressively increased. Furthermore, while the phosphorylation of tau and other substrates was upregulated, the phosphorylation of known physiological Cdk5 substrates is not increased in p25-transgenic mice (Cruz et al., 2003). Mice expressing p25 during long periods of time were shown to suffer from impaired hippocampal long term potentiation (LTP) and memory deficits, along with significant synaptic and neuronal loss. However, when p25 was expressed in a transient form, hippocampal LTP was improved, the number of dendritic spines and synapses was increased and no neurodegeneration was observed (Fischer et al., 2005). Altogether, these results point out that it is the persistent increase in p25 expression that turns the physiological Cdk5 function into a pathological one.

#### (Insertion of Figure 1)

#### 2.2. Cdk5 and AD: two old acquaintances

Alzheimer's disease (AD) is the most common type of dementia (Rodgers, 2008; Smith, 1998). Affecting an estimate of 35 million people worldwide (Shah and Reichman, 2006), AD has turned into an alarming health care problem with a vast socio-economic impact (Wimo and Prince, 2010).

Neuropathologically, the AD brain is characterized by 3 main markers: amyloid plaque deposition, neurofibrillary tangle formation and severe selective neuronal loss (Armstrong, 2006; Braak and Braak, 1991). Amyloid- $\beta$  (A $\beta$ ), the main component of amyloid plaques, is considered a key molecule in AD pathogenesis (Alberdi *et al.*, 2010; Findeis, 2007; Lopes *et al.*, 2010; McLarnon and Ryu, 2008; Tseng *et al.*, 2007). Generated by a two-step proteolytic cleavage of the integral membrane glycoprotein APP (amyloid precursor protein) (Esler and Wolfe, 2001; Thinakaran and Koo, 2008) via the amyloidogenic pathway, A $\beta$  can trigger a series of processes known as the amyloid cascade, a multi-step series of events that disrupts neuronal homeostasis, causing aberrant activation of kinases and ultimately resulting in neurofibrillary tangle formation and neuronal loss (Golde, 2003; Hardy and Selkoe, 2002; Newman *et al.*, 2007).

Cdk5 has been proposed as an attractive candidate to connect A $\beta$  toxicity, tau pathology and neurodegeneration (Cruz *et al.*, 2006; Lee and Tsai, 2003; Lopes *et al.*, 2010; Piedrahita *et al.*, 2010). Indeed, in human AD brains, there is a significant augment in Cdk5 activity compared with agematched control brains (Lee *et al.*, 1999). In accordance with this finding, the levels of p25 and activated calpain are increased in AD brains (Grynspan *et al.*, 1997; Tseng *et al.*, 2002) and different studies point out to a correlation between the presence of Cdk5/p25 and neurofibrillary tangle (NFT) formation (Liu *et al.*, 2004b; Pei *et al.*, 1998; Wang *et al.*, 2007). Also, p25 levels were shown to be increased both *in vitro* and *in vivo* through the administration of A $\beta$  peptide (Lopes *et al.*, 2007, 2010; Patrick *et al.*, 1999). A $\beta$  neurotoxicity was shown to be decreased by the direct inhibition of Cdk5 (Alvarez *et al.*, 1999; Chang *et al.*, 2011; Lopes *et al.*, 2007) or by acting upstream, on calpain activation, with the consequent blockage of p25 formation (Granic *et al.*, 2010; Lopes *et al.*, 2010).

#### 2.2.1. Cdk5 and Aß generation

All mutations currently known to cause AD are located either in the APP gene or in the genes encoding presenilins 1 (PS1) and 2 (PS2), two proteins that are part of the  $\gamma$ -secretase complex, one of the secretases responsible for APP cleavage to A $\beta$  (Ahn *et al.*, 2008; Esler and Wolfe, 2001; Florean *et al.*, 2008; Hardy, 1997). Therefore, besides the evidence that A $\beta$  can trigger Cdk5 dysregulation (Kusakawa *et al.*, 2000; Lopes *et al.*, 2007, 2010; Patrick *et al.*, 1999), the link between Cdk5 and AD was further reinforced by reports showing that dysregulated Cdk5 phosphorylates APP at Thr668 (Iijima *et al.*, 2000; Lee *et al.*, 2003), thus regulating its processing and increasing A $\beta$  production. In fact, augmented generation and intraneuronal accumulation of A $\beta$  has been described in inducible p25-transgenic mice (Cruz *et al.*, 2006). Furthermore, APP phosphorylation will induce the nuclear translocation of the APP intracellular domain, which will lead to neuronal demise (Chang *et al.*, 2006).

Cdk5 dysregulation can also be linked to alterations in the presenlin system. Actually, in the cerebral cortex of PS conditional knock-out mice increased levels of activator p25 activator are associated with tau hyperphosphorylation and neurodegeneration (Saura *et al.*, 2004). Moreover, and similarly to other kinases such as protein kinases A (PKA) and C (PKC) and glycogen-synthase kinase 3 beta (GSK3 $\beta$ ) (Kirschenbaum *et al.*, 2001; Seeger *et al.*, 1997; Walter *et al.*, 1998), Cdk5 can phosphorylate PS1, altering its interaction with other molecules and regulating the stability of this phosphoprotein. Human PS1 contains two threonine (thr) residues preceding a proline, thr112 and thr354, which are prone to phosphorylation by Cdk5. Indeed, Cdk5/p35 has been show to directly phosphorylate PS1thr354 both *in vitro* and *in vivo*, increasing the levels of this presenilin (Lau *et al.*, 2002). As an indirect mode of action, the complex Cdk5/p35 can bind and phosphorylate  $\beta$ -catenin and modulate the interactions between this protein and PS1 (Kesavapany *et al.*, 2001). Moreover, Cdk5 is involved in the regulation of N-cadherin-mediated adhesion in cortical neurons, and N-cadherin itself is a  $\gamma$ -secretase substrate (Kwon *et al.*, 2000; Marambaud *et al.*, 2002). Remarkably, Dab1, a key regulator of reelin signaling that is downregulated in PS1 mutants, is also a substrate for Cdk5/p35, and is known to interact with APP (Howell *et al.*, 1999; Keshvara *et al.*, 2002). Therefore,

alterations in Cdk5 activity may lead to changes in PS1 metabolism, contributing to the pathogenesis of AD (Fig. 3).

#### 2.2.2. Cdk5 and tau pathology

Besides A $\beta$  accumulation, in brain regions affected by AD many neurons also display intracellular inclusions in the form of large nonmembrane-bound bundles of abnormal fibres, which occupy much of the perinuclear cytoplasm. These inclusions are designated neurofibrillary tangles (NFTs) and are composed primarily of hyperphosphorylated tau (Adle-Biassette *et al.*, 2006; Eckermann *et al.*, 2007; Grundke-Iqbal *et al.*, 1986a; Grundke-Iqbal *et al.*, 1986b; Kosik *et al.*, 1986). Tau is a member of the microtubule associated proteins (MAP) family, which have as their main function the binding and stabilization of the cellular microtubular network (Iqbal *et al.*, 2005). Therefore, tau is essential to vital processes such as axonal transport, cytoskeletal organization or mitotic division (Cuchillo-Ibanez *et al.*, 2008; Grundke-Iqbal *et al.*, 1986b). However, upon hyperphosphorylation, tau no longer associates with the microtubules and can aggregate in the form of filaments and tangles (Alonso *et al.*, 2001; Grundke-Iqbal *et al.*, 1986a) (Fig. 1), ultimately leading to synaptic loss and neuronal death (Buee *et al.*, 2010; Eckermann *et al.*, 2007; Iqbal *et al.*, 2005) (Steinhilb *et al.*, 2007) (Fig. 3).

The high number (about 42) of serine/threonine (Ser/Thr) residues available in tau (Shahani and Brandt, 2002) make this protein a good target for several kinases, such as Cdk5 (Li *et al.*, 2006; Lopes *et al.*, 2010; Piedrahita *et al.*, 2010; Wang *et al.*, 2007), Gsk3 $\beta$  (Li *et al.*, 2006; Mandelkow *et al.*, 1992; Resende *et al.*, 2008; Wang *et al.*, 2008) or PKA (Liu *et al.*, 2006; Liu *et al.*, 2004a; Liu *et al.*, 2008b). Indeed, both *in vitro* (Lopes *et al.*, 2007; Patrick *et al.*, 1999) and *in vivo* (Ahlijanian *et al.*, 2000; Cruz *et al.*, 2003; Lopes *et al.*, 2010) studies support a role for Cdk5 in tau hyperphosphorylation, mainly when associated with p25: i) Cdk5 can phosphorylate tau on sites that are found in paired helical filaments (a form of tau aggregation associated with different pathologies) (Sengupta *et al.*, 2006; Wang *et al.*, 2007), ii) transgenic animals and cell lines overexpressing p25 display tau hyperphosphorylation (Cruz *et al.*, 2003; Hamdane *et al.*, 2003), and iii) the inhibition of

Cdk5 activity, either by blocking directly the kinase or by avoiding p35 cleavage to p25, prevents tau hyperphosphorylation in neuronal cultures exposed to A $\beta$  and in animals intracerebroventricularly injected with the peptide (Adle-Biassette *et al.*, 2006; Lopes *et al.*, 2007, 2010).

Although A $\beta$  peptides cause a significant increase in tau phosphorylation (Adle-Biassette *et al.*, 2006; Lopes *et al.*, 2007, 2010; Resende *et al.*, 2008), therefore sustaining a link between amyloid and tau pathologies in AD, the overexpression of p25 in transgenic mice can lead to neurofibrillary tangle formation and neuronal loss even in the absence of changes in A $\beta$  levels (Cruz *et al.*, 2003), thus confirming neuropathological studies showing that tau pathology alone can contribute for memory loss and behavior changes associated with AD (Arriagada *et al.*, 1992; Quon *et al.*, 1991) and that Cdk5 dysregulation is a major part of this process.

Hyperphosphorylation of tau also reduces its degradation rate, further promoting tau accumulation in the neurons (Khatoon *et al.*, 1992). Indeed, whereas proteasomal activity has been demonstrated as a major responsible for tau degradation (David *et al.*, 2002; Oddo, 2008), tau aggregates isolated from AD brain can have inhibitory action on the activity of proteasome (Keck *et al.*, 2003), similarly to what has been observed with A $\beta$  oligomers (Tseng *et al.*, 2007), culminating in the pathological accumulation of A $\beta$  and tau. Interestingly, in order to be degraded, p35 is multi-ubiquitylated and processed via the ubiquitin-proteasome pathway (Patrick *et al.*, 1998). This may ultimately lead to a feedback-loop mechanism, where A $\beta$  and/or hyperphosphorylated tau impair proteasomal activity, leading to a decrease in the rate of p35 degradation. More of this activator will therefore be available for cleavage onto p25, generating Cdk5 dysregulation, a phenomenon known to cause the hyperphosphorylation of tau and increments on A $\beta$  levels (Fig. 1).

#### 2.3. Cdk5 dysregulation in other neurodegenerative conditions: causes and consequences

Although the deleterious effect of Cdk5 have been mostly studied in the context of AD, its dysregulation has also been shown to be involved in other neuropathologies, such as prion encephalopathies, PD, ALS and stroke.

#### 2.3.1 Cdk5 in prion diseases

Prion-related encephalopathies (PRE) are a lethal type of neurodegenerative diseases, some of which with a vast socio-economic impact, like bovine spongiform encephalopathy (BSE) or the new variant Creutfeldt-Jakob disease (nvCJD) (Belay and Schonberger, 2005; Feraudet-Tarisse *et al.*; Johnson, 2005). Although they can have genetic or sporadic etiology, PRE are mainly of infectious origin (Blennow *et al.*, 2006; Johnson, 2005) and, therefore, in most prion diseases the onset age will depend on when the contact with the pathogenic agent occurs.

The central molecule of PRE pathogenesis is the prion, an exclusively proteic infectious particle that amplifies in a self-catalytic misfolding process without requiring any nucleic acid contribution (Aguzzi et al., 2008). However, the normal product of the prion gene is a protein designated as cellular isoform of the prion protein or PrP<sup>C</sup>. Although the exact function of this ubiquitously expressed glycoprotein remains unknown, diverse lines of evidence point to a potential role of PrP<sup>C</sup> in cell adhesion, oxidative stress and cell signalling (Encalada et al., 2008; Mouillet-Richard et al., 2000; Roucou et al., 2004; Vassallo and Herms, 2003). PrP<sup>C</sup> has also been largely described as a copper (Cu<sup>2+</sup>)-dependent antioxidant (Adle-Biassette et al., 2006; Brown, 2001; Millhauser, 2007; Zomosa-Signoret et al., 2008). Studies suggest that PrP<sup>C</sup> may be a major Cu<sup>2+</sup>-binding protein in brain membrane fractions, even controlling the activity of other membraneassociated Cu<sup>2+</sup>-binding proteins. Furthermore, prion protein expression was shown to alter cellular  $Cu^{2+}$  uptake and enhance the incorporation of this ion into the antioxidant enzyme superoxide dismutase (SOD), or may also act as a SOD by itself, scavenging reactive oxygen species (Brown et al., 1999). Remarkably, in a transgenic mouse model of AD,  $Cu^{2+}$  exposure not only increased A $\beta$ generation, (particularly Aβ40) but also triggered pathological tau phosphorylation and tangle formation in the brain, in a mechanism correlated with the increased formation of p25 and subsequent aberrant activation of Cdk5/p25 (Kitazawa et al., 2009). It is, however, not well understood how Cu2+ in the brain triggers these pathological changes and if the alterations in the homeostasis of this ion can somehow be related to the recent discovery that cellular prion protein is required for memory impairment in transgenic AD mice (Gimbel et al., 2010).

Cdk5 dysregulation is a major contributor to PrP-induced neurodegeneration (Lopes et al., 2007, 2009b). Indeed, a recent work showed that hamsters infected with prion strains had a significant increase in the levels of tau hyperphosphorylated on Ser 202/Thr 205, a fact that was correlated with a marked increase of Cdk5 levels (Wang et al., 2010). Also, the exposure of cortical neurons to the toxic peptide PrP<sub>106-126</sub> can lead to tau hyperphosphorylation and cell cycle re-entry, a cascade that will culminate in apoptotic neuronal death (Lopes et al., 2007, 2009b). This effect of PrP, similarly to what happens with the A $\beta$  peptide, is mediated by the imbalance of calcium homeostasis (Agostinho and Oliveira, 2003). However, whereas A $\beta$  causes Ca<sup>2+</sup> influx from the extracellular space via NMDA receptors and voltage-sensitive Ca<sup>2+</sup> channels (Alberdi et al., 2010), PrP peptides will block Ca<sup>2+</sup> entry through this type of channels (Florio et al., 1998; Sandberg et al., 2004). In alternative, the synthetic prion fragment PrP<sub>106-126</sub> has been demonstrated to form nonselective ionic channels in planar lipid bilayers (Kourie and Shorthouse, 2000; Lin et al., 1997), which could permit Ca2+ entry into cells and consequent calpain activation, leading to the cleavage of p35 to p25 and the overactivation of Cdk5 without altering the levels of this kinase (Lopes et al., 2007) (Fig. 1). The infectious isoform of the prion protein is also known as scrapie prion (PrP<sup>Sc</sup>), due to the fact that this protein-only pathogenic agent is the cause of sheep transmissible spongiform encephalopathy, scrapie. This 33-35 kDa protein has a protease-resistant core known as PrP<sub>27-30</sub> (McKinley et al., 1991). PrP<sup>Sc</sup> is resistant to physical and chemical proteolysis, heat and radiation (Aguzzi and Heppner, 2000; Harris, 1999; Prusiner, 1998). Interestingly, a recent study has shown that the phosphorylation of the recombinant PrP fragment PrP23-231 by Cdk5 can lead to the generation of a proteinase K resistant species (which forms Congo Red-positive fibrils) and aggregates that can be immunostained with anti-PrP antibodies (Giannopoulos et al., 2009). These new results raise the possibility that phosphorylation by Cdk5 can be part of a physiological mechanism of PrP conformational alteration and its putative conversion into a pathological infectious form.

#### 2.3.2 Cdk5 in Parkinson's disease

Parkinson's disease (PD) is a debilitating neurodegenerative disorder that affects both cognitive and motor skills. Neuropathologically, PD is characterized by a progressive and selective degeneration of dopaminergic neurons, in particular those from substantia nigra pars compacta (Aguzzi and Weissmann, 1996; Przedborski, 2005; Przedborski and Vila, 2001). Neuronal loss and the formation of intracellular aggregates of  $\alpha$ -synuclein named Lewy bodies are the two main hallmark features of this pathology (Meredith *et al.*, 2009; Pollanen *et al.*, 1993; Venda *et al.*, 2010).

Although the exact mechanism of dopaminergic neuronal death remains unknown, recent studies have demonstrated that Cdk5 is involved in the process. The activity and levels of this kinase were found to be altered in the brain of PD patients (Alvira *et al.*, 2008), as well as in pharmacological animal models of the disease, in particular those corresponding to the administration of MPTP(a neurotoxin that causes parkinsonian symptoms), or in cell cultures exposed to the MPTP metabolite, MPP+ (Alvira *et al.*, 2006; Smith *et al.*, 2003), with increased Cdk5 activation correlating to the augment in the levels of the pathogenic activator p25 due to calpain cleavage (Alvira *et al.*, 2008; Alvira *et al.*, 2006). This mechanism probably involves glutamate excitotoxicity, since MPTP exposure substantially increases glutamate levels (Meredith *et al.*, 2009), leading to the imbalance of calcium and consequent calpain activation. Inhibition of Cdk5, either directly, by the cdk inhibitor flavopiridol, or indirectly, by blocking the cleavage of p35 to p25, was shown to provide neuroprotection against both compounds, with effects at the cellular level (reduction in the number of degenerating dopaminergic neurons), as well as in the behavioural aspect, with the animals displaying a significant locomotor improvement (Smith *et al.*, 2003).

Similarly to what happens in AD with the cytoskeleton protein tau (Ahlijanian *et al.*, 2000; Piedrahita *et al.*, 2010), Cdk5 has been implicated in the phosphorylation of two proteins,  $\alpha$ -synuclein and parkin, with significant importance in the pathogenesis of PD (Avraham *et al.*, 2007; Muntane *et al.*, 2008; Rubio de la Torre *et al.*, 2009).  $\alpha$ -synuclein is the major component of Lewy bodies, and it is primarily found in nervous tissue (Iwatsubo, 2003; Spillantini *et al.*, 1998), where it is known to play a role in neurotransmission (Dev *et al.*, 2003), although its main function remains unknown,

whereas parkin acts as an E3 ubiquitin ligase, a member of the ubiquitin-proteasome system (Shimura *et al.*, 2000). Mutations in the gene coding for parkin are known to cause early-age familial PD (Kitada *et al.*, 1998; Lucking *et al.*, 2000). The phosphorylation of parkin by Cdk5, both *in vitro* and *in vivo*, was shown to affect its ubiquitin-ligase activity, leading to a reduction in its autoubiquitylation (Avraham *et al.*, 2007). Furthermore, the conjugated action of Cdk5 with casein kinase I decreases the solubility of parkin, leading to its aggregation(Rubio de la Torre *et al.*, 2009). Cdk5 phosphorylation of  $\alpha$ -synuclein also leads to its agglomeration (Muntane *et al.*, 2008). Indeed, in the brains of PD patients, Cdk5 and p35 were found to co-localize with Lewy bodies, which reinforces the idea that the Cdk5 is involved in the generation of the  $\alpha$ -synuclein fibrils that form these PD hallmark structures (Nakamura *et al.*, 1997).

Alterations in Cdk5 activity can also have an impact on the antioxidant capacity of the dopaminergic neurons: the overactivation of Cdk5 by MPP+ was shown to downregulate the peroxidase activity of the peroxiredoxin Prx2, thus leading to a decrease to the capacity of the cells to eliminate reactive oxygen species (ROS), which will ultimately induce neuronal loss (Qu *et al.*, 2007).

#### 2.4.3 Cdk5 in other neurological disorders

Cdk5 has also been linked to the onset of other neurodegenerative conditions, such as ALS (Nguyen and Julien, 2003) or stroke (Slevin and Krupinski, 2009) with the overactivation of this kinase resulting from a strong intracellular calcium imbalance, which in turn activates calpains and leads to the generation of p25 and ultimately contributing for neuronal loss (Patrick *et al.*, 1999).

In ALS, an adult-onset neurodegenerative disorder characterized by a selective demise of motor neurons from the brain and spinal cord (Cleveland, 1999), mutations of the copper/zinc superoxide dismutase (SOD1) gene trigger a series of toxic effects including glutamate excitotoxicity, which overstimulates the glutamatergic receptors and leads to excessive calcium entry into the motor neurons (Cudkowicz *et al.*, 1997; Rosen, 1993). The involvement of Cdk5 in ALS is mainly correlated with its phosphorylative action, since the dysregulation of this kinase seems to cause a hyperphosphorylation of neurofilaments, namely the heavy subunit (NF-H), as well as of tau (Nguyen

*et al.*, 2001). In fact, besides the co-localization between phosphorylated NF-H and the Cdk5/p25 complex in motor neurons of SOD1 mutant mice (Nguyen *et al.*, 2001), a partial overlapping of NF-H aggregates and Cdk5 was observed in the brain of ALS patients (Bajaj *et al.*, 1999). Although NF-H hyperphosphorylation is associated with a disruption of the cytoskeleton (similarly to what is observed in the case of tau in AD) (Patzke and Tsai, 2002), perikaryal aggregates of NF-H can capture Cdk5/p25, thus preventing it, up to a certain point, from targeting other substrates (Nguyen *et al.*, 2001).

Cerebral ischemia (stroke) consists of a loss of brain functions due to a transient or permanent blocking of the blood flow to the brain (Lo *et al.*, 2003). The neuronal demise resulting from an ischemic event is caused by multiple overlapping mechanisms, such as the generation of reactive oxygen species, inflammatory reactions and excitotoxicity caused by and excessive activation of ionotropic glutamate receptors, in particular NMDA (Mehta *et al.*, 2007; Nakka *et al.*, 2008). Therefore, and similarly to other neurodegenerative conditions, the calcium imbalance generated by NMDA receptor overactivation (Mehta *et al.*, 2007) is probably the main generator of Cdk5 dysregulation in stroke. In *in vivo* models of ischemia, Cdk5 overactivation was shown to cause tau hyperphosphorylation (Wen *et al.*, 2007) and will also phosphorylate the NMDA receptors, thus amplifying the calcium influx and potentiating neuronal death (Wang *et al.*, 2003). Furthermore, ischemic stroke leads to increases in Cdk5 expression (Mitsios *et al.*, 2007) and affects the antioxidant capability of the neurons, since similarly to what occurs in PD, Cdk5 phosphorylates the enzyme Prx2, therefore inactivating it and abolishing its peroxidase activity (Rashidian *et al.*, 2009).

### 3. CDK5 AND THE CELL CYCLE

### 3.1. The cell cycle: Cdks in control

Cell cycle activity/progression is dependent on the activity of Cdks. The formation of different Cdk/cyclin complexes is the base for a precise control of cell cycle progression (Golias *et al.*, 2004; Nguyen *et al.*, 2002; Nigg, 2001). The phosphorylation of the retinoblastoma protein (Rb), first by Cdk4/cyclin D1 and Cdk6/cyclin D1-3 and further by Cdk2/cyclin E, is considered to be the initiating

point of cell cycle (Tannoch *et al.*, 2000; Weinberg, 1995). At the G1/S checkpoint, a complex formed by Rb, E2F-1, histone deacetylases (HDAC) amongst other proteins, blocks protein transcription and arrests the cell cycle (Nguyen *et al.*, 2002; Panteleeva *et al.*, 2004). Upon phosphorylation, Rb is released from this transcription-blocking complex and occurs the transcription of S phase-associated proteins (Park *et al.*, 2000) and consequent progression in the cell cycle.

Since cell cycle-associated Cdks do not play a significant role in differentiated neurons, their activity in the CNS is considerably reduced (Nguyen *et al.*, 2002). Despite the tight regulation of the cell cycle, this process can sometimes be disrupted by powerful stimuli, such as excitotocitity, oxidative stress, DNA damage or ischemia, forcing mature neurons to leave a steady G0 state and reenter the cell cycle (Katchanov *et al.*, 2001; Kruman *et al.*, 2004; Kuan *et al.*, 2004; Nguyen *et al.*, 2003).

Cell cycle re-entry has been observed in different neurodegenerative conditions, such as AD, PD, ALS or stroke (Ahn *et al.*, 2008; Andorfer *et al.*, 2005; Hoglinger *et al.*, 2007; Lopes *et al.*, 2009c; Neve and McPhie, 2006; Nguyen *et al.*, 2003; Rashidian *et al.*, 2005; Wen *et al.*, 2005). Although in these neurons the passage into the G1 phase is closely related to the re-expression of cell cycle Cdks, namely Cdk2, 4 and 6 (Copani *et al.*, 1999; Kuan *et al.*, 2004; Lopes *et al.*, 2009a; Nguyen *et al.*, 2003), a very important part in the abortive cell cycle re-entry is played by Rb. Under pathological conditions, Rb phosphorylation/inactivation causes re-cycling neurons to overcome the G1/S checkpoint and DNA synthesis will occur (as confirmed by BrdU incorporation) (Hoglinger *et al.*, 2007; Wen *et al.*, 2005). Nevertheless, these neurons never reach the M phase and, somewhere between the S and the G2 phases, degenerate by apoptosis (Hernandez-Ortega *et al.*, 2007).

#### 3.2. Cdk5 and cell cycle re-entry: a new pathway to degeneration

Abnormal cell cycle reactivation can in fact be considered as an important neuropathological feature of AD (Ahn *et al.*, 2008; Hernandez-Ortega *et al.*, 2007; Lopes *et al.*, 2009a; Majd *et al.*, 2008; Yang *et al.*, 2006). Cell cycle events have been described in the brains of patients (Busser *et al.*, 1998) and in animal models of AD (Ahn *et al.*, 2008; Lopes *et al.*, 2010; McShea *et al.*, 2007), as well

as in cultured neurons exposed to A $\beta$  (Lopes *et al.*, 2009b; Wu *et al.*, 2000). Furthermore, in AD brains, ectopic expression of cell cycle molecules was shown to occur in the same regions as disease-associated neurodegeneration (Busser *et al.*, 1998). Recently, abnormal cell cycle re-entry was also observed in neuronal cultures exposed to prion peptides (Lopes *et al.*, 2009b), which may indicate that the ectopic reactivation of the cell cycle is also part of the neurodegenerative mechanism of PRE.

#### (Insertion of Figure 2)

Interestingly, Cdk5 overactivation has been described in several neurodegenerative conditions in which ectopic cell cycle events were also reported (Hoglinger *et al.*, 2007; Lopes *et al.*, 2009b; Nguyen *et al.*, 2003; Wen *et al.*, 2005; Zhang *et al.*, 2010). Moreover, Cdk5 dysregulation due to increased levels of oxidative stress, like in the mutant SOD1 mouse model of ALS, can cause neurodegeneration via changes in Cdk4 expression/activity (Nguyen *et al.*, 2003). In a recent report, it was demonstrated that Cdk5 can also act as a mediator of neuronal cell cycle reactivation induced by A $\beta$  and PrP, since both peptides increased the levels of Cdk4, pRb and PCNA; however, these changes in the levels of cell cycle markers were prevented when Cdk5 activity was blocked. The levels of the M phase marker, phospho-histone H3 (phH3), were identical before and after Cdk5 dysregulation, confirming that although neurons challenged with A $\beta$  or PrP manage to reach the S or the G2 phases, they do not pass the G2/M checkpoint and proceed in the apoptotic pathway (Fig. 2). Curiously, the presence of a marker for the S phase was observed in neurons already at an advanced apoptotic stage, what seems to imply cell cycle reactivation, not as a cause for, but rather as a component of the cell death pathway (Lopes *et al.*, 2009b).

Besides the "normal" alterations in Cdk5 localization, with a passage from a more peripheral position to the cell body, recent studies have shown the toxic effects of this kinase are also associated with a translocation of nuclear Cdk5 to the cytoplasm (Fig. 2), an event which appears to be intimately linked with the ectopic cell cycle re-entry observed in both AD animal models and cultured neurons exposed to A $\beta$  (Lopes *et al.*, 2010; Zhang *et al.*, 2008a). Indeed, nuclear Cdk5 appears to be

responsible for the suppression of cell cycle activity in post-mitotic neurons, possibly through the stabilization of the cell cycle inhibitor p27 and by preventing the association of E2F-1 with its coactivator DP1. Furthermore, the blockage of cell cycle progression by Cdk5 requires that this kinase is associated with its normal activator p35. Thus, the cleavage of p35 to p25, which will lead to Cdk5 dysregulation, is probably a major step in the abortive cell cycle re-entry triggered by A $\beta$  exposure (Zhang *et al.*, 2008a; Zhang *et al.*, 2010), an hypothesis supported by the recent discovery that upon p25 generation, either via A $\beta$  exposure *in vitro* or in p25-inducible transgenic mice, Cdk5 will cause the dispersion of the nuclear envelope, an event directly associated with apoptotic neuronal death (Chang *et al.*, 2011). Since the nature of Cdk5 dysregulation is mainly based on the imbalance of intracellular calcium homeostasis (Camins *et al.*, 2006; Lee *et al.*, 2000) (Fig. 3), a common feature of different neurodegenerative pathologies (Araujo *et al.*, 2010; Bano and Nicotera, 2007; Green *et al.*, 2007; Liu *et al.*, 2008a; Melo *et al.*, 2007), it is likely that the exposure to pathological stimuli other than A $\beta$  (such as prion peptides, oxidative stress or ischemia) can trigger common mechanisms that lead to ectopic cell cycle re-entry (Fig.2).

#### 4. CDK5 AT THE SYNAPSES: FUNCTIONS AND DYSFUNCTION

There are increasing evidences that point out a role for Cdk5 in the mechanisms of synaptic plasticity (Angelo *et al.*, 2006; Cheung *et al.*, 2006; Hawasli *et al.*, 2007; Hawasli *et al.*, 2009; Lai and Ip, 2009). Both Cdk5 and its normal activator p35 have been found in neuronal synapses as well as in the neuromuscular junction (Fu *et al.*, 2011; Humbert *et al.*, 2000b), where they colocalize with acetylcholine receptors (Fu *et al.*, 2001). Furthermore, several of the synaptic proteins isolated from adult mouse brain synaptosomes have been identified as substrates for Cdk5 (Collins *et al.*, 2005). Cdk5 also plays a relevant role neurotransmitter trafficking since it has the ability to modulate neurotransmitter release through the phosphorylation of P/Q-type voltage-dependent calcium channels (Tomizawa *et al.*, 2002). Moreover, Cdk5 inhibition allows the access to a pool of synaptic vesicles which is not normally available (Kim and Ryan, 2010). Besides regulating the exocytosis of

neurotransmitters, Cdk5 also regulates clathrin-mediated endocytosis, by phosphorylating dynamin 1 and amphiphysin 1(Floyd *et al.*, 2001; Tomizawa *et al.*, 2003).

Recent studies show that Cdk5 controls hippocampus-dependent learning and synaptic plasticity (Adle-Biassette *et al.*, 2006; Hawasli *et al.*, 2007; Hawasli *et al.*, 2009; Li *et al.*, 2001). Indeed, the conditional knock-out of Cdk5 improved performance in several hippocampal learning tasks and reduced the threshold for LTP induction (Hawasli *et al.*, 2009). However, although the knock-out of Cdk5 improves learning and synaptic plasticity, after some time Cdk5 knock-out mice displayed an increase in seizure susceptibility, suggesting a progressive increase in excitability (Hawasli *et al.*, 2009). Interestingly, the transient expression of p25 was also shown to enhance LTP and spatial learning (Angelo *et al.*, 2003; Fischer *et al.*, 2005), whereas in p35 null mice (p35 -/-) the long-term depression (LTD) and spatial learning were impaired (Ohshima *et al.*, 2005).

The modulation of learning and synaptic plasticity by Cdk5 occurs mainly through the regulation of NMDA receptor (NMDAR) trafficking and degradation. Indeed, in hippocampal neurons, Cdk5 can complex with calpains to promote the proteolysis of the NMDAR subunit NR2B (Hawasli et al., 2007). On the other hand, the regulation of NMDAR endocytosis by Cdk5 is made through the phosphorylation of PSD-95 (Zhang et al., 2008b), a postsynaptic scaffolding protein with a major role in the organization, function, and plasticity of excitatory synapses (Ehrlich and Malinow, 2004; Kim and Sheng, 2004). Studies show that Cdk5 inhibition increases the binding of PSD-95 to the tyrosine kinase Src, which in turn induces phosphorylation of NR2B and attenuates activityinduced endocytosis of this NMDAR subunit (Zhang et al., 2008b). Interestingly, Cdk5 can also act on another type of NMDAR subunits, the NR2A. In fact, the action of Cdk5 over this subunit type is different from NR2B, since NR2A can be directly phosphorylated by Cdk5, a mechanism that will increase the activity of the receptor. Thus, unlike in NR2B, the inhibition of Cdk5 will block LTP induction in hippocampal neurons (Li et al., 2001). This dual mechanism through which Cdk5 regulates NR2A and NR2B receptors may also be associated to their different nature, since NR2A is eminently synaptic, whereas NR2B can occur both synaptically and extrasynaptically (Hardingham and Bading, 2010).

Additionally, Cdk5 was shown to regulate the expression of acetylcholine neurotransmitter receptors (Fu *et al.*, 2001; Xie *et al.*, 2004) and affect acetylcholine and NMDA receptors clustering through PSD-95 phosphorylation (Fu *et al.*, 2005; Morabito *et al.*, 2004).The interaction between Cdk5 and PSD-95 is also considered relevant for the synaptic impairment that occurs in AD. Excitatory synapses are considered to be early targets for soluble A $\beta$ , a view supported by the evidence that oligomerized A $\beta$  can bind to synaptic sites, namely postsynaptic ones containing PSD-95 (Lacor *et al.*, 2004), Remarkably, inhibition of Cdk5 by roscovitine was shown to block the effect of A $\beta$  on PSD-95 protein levels, an observation confirmed by the fact that the levels of PSD-95 do not decline after A $\beta$  treatment of cultured cells expressing the triple alanine mutant form of PSD-95, which lacks phosphorylation sites (Roselli *et al.*, 2005).

#### 5. STRATEGIES TO CONTROL CDK5 AND CONCLUSIONS

The studies comprehended in this review demonstrate the vital role of Cdk5 in the brain development through the participation in processes as important as neuronal migration or synaptic plasticity. It was our objective to unravel the physiological part that Cdk5 phosphorylation takes on the modulation of NMDA receptor activity and expression, neurotransmitter release, degradation of synaptic proteins, or even in gene expression modulation.

On the other hand, this review addressed the consequences of Cdk5 dysregulation , with a particular focus on Alzheimer's disease, but also outlining the role of this kinase in other neurodegenerative pathologies, such as prion encephalopathies or Parkinson's disease. Indeed, the overactivation and myslocalization of Cdk5 through a mechanism involving  $Ca^{2+}$  induced calpain activation was shown to mediate tau hyperphosphorylation and apoptotic neuronal death, amongst other noxious effects. (Fig. 3).

### (Insertion of Figure 3)

Due to its importance in these various neurodegenerative pathways of several brain pathologies, it is logical to assume that Cdk5 can be a good pharmacological target to prevent or even halt these pathologies. Indeed, diverse *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies have demonstrated that the blockage of Cdk5 activity can have a beneficial effect and provide neuroprotection. Two main strategies have been used for these purposes: direct inhibition, with the use of Cdk5 inhibitors, and indirect action, by preventing the excessive generation of the pathogenesis-associated activator p25 through the use of calpain inhibitors. Although the efficacy of these compounds has been demonstrated in various disease models, several concerns remain regarding the possible effects on the several physiological mechanisms controlled by Cdk5, since not only this kinase is vital for different neuronal processes, but even p25, when generated in a transient form, can play a positive role in cognitive and memory functions. Furthermore, although both roscovitine (one of the best know Cdk5 inhibitors), and calpain inhibitors (such as MDL28170), have the capability to cross the blood-brain barrier, they are not completely specific, which implies that their administration can affect several other pathways, both pathological and physiological.

In conclusion, the understanding of how such a multifaceted kinase executes its role in both normal and pathological conditions is of vital importance, since it establishes a basis for the development of novel therapeutic approaches designed to block Cdk5 dysregulation in diverse pathologies.

### 6. REFERENCES

- Adle-Biassette, H., Verney, C., Peoc'h, K., Dauge, M. C., Razavi, F., Choudat, L., Gressens, P., Budka, H. and Henin, D. (2006) Immunohistochemical expression of prion protein (PrPC) in the human forebrain during development. *J Neuropathol Exp Neurol* 65, 698-706.
- Agostinho, P. and Oliveira, C. R. (2003) Involvement of calcineurin in the neurotoxic effects induced by amyloid-beta and prion peptides. *Eur J Neurosci* **17**, 1189-1196.

- Aguzzi, A., Baumann, F. and Bremer, J. (2008) The prion's elusive reason for being. *Annu Rev Neurosci* **31**, 439-477.
- Aguzzi, A. and Heppner, F. L. (2000) Pathogenesis of prion diseases: a progress report. *Cell Death Differ* **7**, 889-902.
- Aguzzi, A. and Weissmann, C. (1996) Spongiform encephalopathies: a suspicious signature. *Nature* **383**, 666-667.
- Ahlijanian, M. K., Barrezueta, N. X., Williams, R. D., Jakowski, A., Kowsz, K. P., McCarthy, S., Coskran, T., Carlo, A., Seymour, P. A., Burkhardt, J. E., Nelson, R. B. and McNeish, J. D. (2000) Hyperphosphorylated tau and neurofilament and cytoskeletal disruptions in mice overexpressing human p25, an activator of cdk5. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 97, 2910-2915.
- Ahn, K. W., Joo, Y., Choi, Y., Kim, M., Lee, S. H., Cha, S. H., Suh, Y. H. and Kim, H. S. (2008) Swedish amyloid precursor protein mutation increases cell cycle-related proteins in vitro and in vivo. *J Neurosci Res*.
- Alberdi, E., Sanchez-Gomez, M. V., Cavaliere, F., Perez-Samartin, A., Zugaza, J. L., Trullas, R., Domercq, M. and Matute, C. (2010) Amyloid beta oligomers induce Ca2+ dysregulation and neuronal death through activation of ionotropic glutamate receptors. *Cell Calcium* 47, 264-272.
- Alonso, A., Zaidi, T., Novak, M., Grundke-Iqbal, I. and Iqbal, K. (2001) Hyperphosphorylation induces self-assembly of tau into tangles of paired helical filaments/straight filaments. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 98, 6923-6928.
- Alvarez, A., Toro, R., Caceres, A. and Maccioni, R. B. (1999) Inhibition of tau phosphorylating protein kinase cdk5 prevents beta-amyloid-induced neuronal death. *FEBS Lett* **459**, 421-426.
- Alvira, D., Ferrer, I., Gutierrez-Cuesta, J., Garcia-Castro, B., Pallas, M. and Camins, A. (2008) Activation of the calpain/cdk5/p25 pathway in the girus cinguli in Parkinson's disease. *Parkinsonism Relat Disord* 14, 309-313.

- Alvira, D., Tajes, M., Verdaguer, E., Acuna-Castroviejo, D., Folch, J., Camins, A. and Pallas, M. (2006) Inhibition of the cdk5/p25 fragment formation may explain the antiapoptotic effects of melatonin in an experimental model of Parkinson's disease. *J Pineal Res* 40, 251-258.
- Amin, N. D., Albers, W. and Pant, H. C. (2002) Cyclin-dependent kinase 5 (cdk5) activation requires interaction with three domains of p35. *J Neurosci Res* 67, 354-362.
- Andorfer, C., Acker, C. M., Kress, Y., Hof, P. R., Duff, K. and Davies, P. (2005) Cell-cycle reentry and cell death in transgenic mice expressing nonmutant human tau isoforms. *J Neurosci* 25, 5446-5454.
- Angelo, M., Plattner, F. and Giese, K. P. (2006) Cyclin-dependent kinase 5 in synaptic plasticity, learning and memory. *J Neurochem* **99**, 353-370.
- Angelo, M., Plattner, F., Irvine, E. E. and Giese, K. P. (2003) Improved reversal learning and altered fear conditioning in transgenic mice with regionally restricted p25 expression. *Eur J Neurosci* 18, 423-431.
- Araujo, I. M., Carreira, B. P., Carvalho, C. M. and Carvalho, A. P. (2010) Calpains and delayed calcium deregulation in excitotoxicity. *Neurochem Res* **35**, 1966-1969.
- Armstrong, R. A. (2006) Plaques and tangles and the pathogenesis of Alzheimer's disease. *Folia Neuropathol* **44**, 1-11.
- Arriagada, P. V., Growdon, J. H., Hedley-Whyte, E. T. and Hyman, B. T. (1992) Neurofibrillary tangles but not senile plaques parallel duration and severity of Alzheimer's disease. *Neurology* 42, 631-639.
- Asada, A., Yamamoto, N., Gohda, M., Saito, T., Hayashi, N. and Hisanaga, S. (2008) Myristoylation of p39 and p35 is a determinant of cytoplasmic or nuclear localization of active cyclindependent kinase 5 complexes. *J Neurochem* **106**, 1325-1336.
- Avraham, E., Rott, R., Liani, E., Szargel, R. and Engelender, S. (2007) Phosphorylation of Parkin by the cyclin-dependent kinase 5 at the linker region modulates its ubiquitin-ligase activity and aggregation. *J Biol Chem* **282**, 12842-12850.

- Bajaj, N. P., al-Sarraj, S. T., Leigh, P. N., Anderson, V. and Miller, C. C. (1999) Cyclin dependent kinase-5 (CDK-5) phosphorylates neurofilament heavy (NF-H) chain to generate epitopes for antibodies that label neurofilament accumulations in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS) and is present in affected motor neurones in ALS. *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry* 23, 833-850.
- Bano, D. and Nicotera, P. (2007) Ca2+ signals and neuronal death in brain ischemia. *Stroke* **38**, 674-676.
- Belay, E. D. and Schonberger, L. B. (2005) The public health impact of prion diseases. Annu Rev Public Health 26, 191-212.
- Bibb, J. A., Snyder, G. L., Nishi, A., Yan, Z., Meijer, L., Fienberg, A. A., Tsai, L. H., Kwon, Y. T., Girault, J. A., Czernik, A. J., Huganir, R. L., Hemmings, H. C., Jr., Nairn, A. C. and Greengard, P. (1999) Phosphorylation of DARPP-32 by Cdk5 modulates dopamine signalling in neurons. *Nature* 402, 669-671.
- Blennow, K., de Leon, M. J. and Zetterberg, H. (2006) Alzheimer's disease. Lancet 368, 387-403.
- Bourne, J. N. and Harris, K. M. (2008) Balancing structure and function at hippocampal dendritic spines. *Annu Rev Neurosci* **31**, 47-67.
- Braak, H. and Braak, E. (1991) Neuropathological stageing of Alzheimer-related changes. *Acta Neuropathol* **82**, 239-259.
- Brown, D. R. (2001) Copper and prion disease. Brain Res Bull 55, 165-173.
- Brown, D. R., Wong, B. S., Hafiz, F., Clive, C., Haswell, S. J. and Jones, I. M. (1999) Normal prion protein has an activity like that of superoxide dismutase. *Biochem J* **344 Pt 1**, 1-5.
- Buee, L., Troquier, L., Burnouf, S., Belarbi, K., Van der Jeugd, A., Ahmed, T., Fernandez-Gomez, F.,
  Caillierez, R., Grosjean, M. E., Begard, S., Barbot, B., Demeyer, D., Obriot, H., Brion, I.,
  Buee-Scherrer, V., Maurage, C. A., Balschun, D., D'Hooge, R., Hamdane, M., Blum, D. and
  Sergeant, N. (2010) From tau phosphorylation to tau aggregation: what about neuronal death? *Biochem Soc Trans* 38, 967-972.

- Busser, J., Geldmacher, D. S. and Herrup, K. (1998) Ectopic cell cycle proteins predict the sites of neuronal cell death in Alzheimer's disease brain. *J Neurosci* 18, 2801-2807.
- Camins, A., Verdaguer, E., Folch, J., Canudas, A. M. and Pallas, M. (2006) The role of CDK5/P25 formation/inhibition in neurodegeneration. *Drug News Perspect* **19**, 453-460.
- Causeret, F., Jacobs, T., Terao, M., Heath, O., Hoshino, M. and Nikolic, M. (2007) Neurabin-I is phosphorylated by Cdk5: implications for neuronal morphogenesis and cortical migration. *Mol Biol Cell* 18, 4327-4342.
- Chae, T., Kwon, Y. T., Bronson, R., Dikkes, P., Li, E. and Tsai, L. H. (1997) Mice lacking p35, a neuronal specific activator of Cdk5, display cortical lamination defects, seizures, and adult lethality. *Neuron* 18, 29-42.
- Chang, K. A., Kim, H. S., Ha, T. Y., Ha, J. W., Shin, K. Y., Jeong, Y. H., Lee, J. P., Park, C. H., Kim, S., Baik, T. K. and Suh, Y. H. (2006) Phosphorylation of amyloid precursor protein (APP) at Thr668 regulates the nuclear translocation of the APP intracellular domain and induces neurodegeneration. *Mol Cell Biol* 26, 4327-4338.
- Chang, K. H., Multani, P. S., Sun, K. H., Vincent, F., de Pablo, Y., Ghosh, S., Gupta, R., Lee, H. P., Lee, H. G., Smith, M. A. and Shah, K. (2011) Nuclear Envelope Dispersion Triggered by Deregulated Cdk5 Precedes Neuronal Death. *Mol Biol Cell*.
- Cheung, Z. H., Fu, A. K. and Ip, N. Y. (2006) Synaptic roles of Cdk5: implications in higher cognitive functions and neurodegenerative diseases. *Neuron* **50**, 13-18.
- Cheung, Z. H. and Ip, N. Y. (2007) The roles of cyclin-dependent kinase 5 in dendrite and synapse development. *Biotechnol J* **2**, 949-957.
- Cleveland, D. W. (1999) From Charcot to SOD1: mechanisms of selective motor neuron death in ALS. *Neuron* 24, 515-520.
- Collins, M. O., Yu, L., Coba, M. P., Husi, H., Campuzano, I., Blackstock, W. P., Choudhary, J. S. and Grant, S. G. (2005) Proteomic analysis of in vivo phosphorylated synaptic proteins. *J Biol Chem* 280, 5972-5982.

- Copani, A., Condorelli, F., Caruso, A., Vancheri, C., Sala, A., Giuffrida Stella, A. M., Canonico, P.
  L., Nicoletti, F. and Sortino, M. A. (1999) Mitotic signaling by beta-amyloid causes neuronal death. *Faseb J* 13, 2225-2234.
- Cruz, J. C., Kim, D., Moy, L. Y., Dobbin, M. M., Sun, X., Bronson, R. T. and Tsai, L. H. (2006) p25/cyclin-dependent kinase 5 induces production and intraneuronal accumulation of amyloid beta in vivo. *J Neurosci* 26, 10536-10541.
- Cruz, J. C., Tseng, H. C., Goldman, J. A., Shih, H. and Tsai, L. H. (2003) Aberrant Cdk5 activation by p25 triggers pathological events leading to neurodegeneration and neurofibrillary tangles. *Neuron* 40, 471-483.
- Cuchillo-Ibanez, I., Seereeram, A., Byers, H. L., Leung, K. Y., Ward, M. A., Anderton, B. H. and Hanger, D. P. (2008) Phosphorylation of tau regulates its axonal transport by controlling its binding to kinesin. *Faseb J*.
- Cudkowicz, M. E., McKenna-Yasek, D., Sapp, P. E., Chin, W., Geller, B., Hayden, D. L., Schoenfeld,
  D. A., Hosler, B. A., Horvitz, H. R. and Brown, R. H. (1997) Epidemiology of mutations in superoxide dismutase in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Ann Neurol* 41, 210-221.
- Daval, M., Gurlo, T., Costes, S., Huang, C. J. and Butler, P. C. (2011) Cyclin-Dependent Kinase 5 Promotes Pancreatic {beta}-Cell Survival via Fak-Akt Signaling Pathways. *Diabetes*.
- David, D. C., Layfield, R., Serpell, L., Narain, Y., Goedert, M. and Spillantini, M. G. (2002) Proteasomal degradation of tau protein. *J Neurochem* **83**, 176-185.
- Dev, K. K., Hofele, K., Barbieri, S., Buchman, V. L. and van der Putten, H. (2003) Part II: alphasynuclein and its molecular pathophysiological role in neurodegenerative disease. *Neuropharmacology* **45**, 14-44.
- Dhariwala, F. A. and Rajadhyaksha, M. S. (2008) An unusual member of the Cdk family: Cdk5. *Cell Mol Neurobiol* **28**, 351-369.

Dhavan, R. and Tsai, L. H. (2001) A decade of CDK5. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2, 749-759.

- Diehl, J. A. and Sherr, C. J. (1997) A dominant-negative cyclin D1 mutant prevents nuclear import of cyclin-dependent kinase 4 (CDK4) and its phosphorylation by CDK-activating kinase. *Mol Cell Biol* 17, 7362-7374.
- Eckermann, K., Mocanu, M. M., Khlistunova, I., Biernat, J., Nissen, A., Hofmann, A., Schonig, K.,
  Bujard, H., Haemisch, A., Mandelkow, E., Zhou, L., Rune, G. and Mandelkow, E. M. (2007)
  The beta-propensity of Tau determines aggregation and synaptic loss in inducible mouse
  models of tauopathy. *J Biol Chem* 282, 31755-31765.
- Ehrlich, I. and Malinow, R. (2004) Postsynaptic density 95 controls AMPA receptor incorporation during long-term potentiation and experience-driven synaptic plasticity. *J Neurosci* 24, 916-927.
- Encalada, S. E., Moya, K. L., Lehmann, S. and Zahn, R. (2008) The role of the prion protein in the molecular basis for synaptic plasticity and nervous system development. *J Mol Neurosci* 34, 9-15.
- Esler, W. P. and Wolfe, M. S. (2001) A portrait of Alzheimer secretases--new features and familiar faces. *Science* **293**, 1449-1454.
- Feldmann, G., Mishra, A., Hong, S. M., Bisht, S., Strock, C. J., Ball, D. W., Goggins, M., Maitra, A. and Nelkin, B. D. (2010) Inhibiting the cyclin-dependent kinase CDK5 blocks pancreatic cancer formation and progression through the suppression of Ras-Ral signaling. *Cancer Res* 70, 4460-4469.
- Feng, J., Yan, Z., Ferreira, A., Tomizawa, K., Liauw, J. A., Zhuo, M., Allen, P. B., Ouimet, C. C. and Greengard, P. (2000) Spinophilin regulates the formation and function of dendritic spines. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 97, 9287-9292.
- Feraudet-Tarisse, C., Andreoletti, O., Morel, N., Simon, S., Lacroux, C., Mathey, J., Lamourette, P., Relano, A., Torres, J. M., Creminon, C. and Grassi, J. Immunotherapeutic effect of anti-PrP monoclonal antibodies in TSE mouse models: pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic analysis. J Gen Virol.

- Ferreiro, E., Resende, R., Costa, R., Oliveira, C. R. and Pereira, C. M. (2006) An endoplasmicreticulum-specific apoptotic pathway is involved in prion and amyloid-beta peptides neurotoxicity. *Neurobiol Dis* 23, 669-678.
- Findeis, M. A. (2007) The role of amyloid beta peptide 42 in Alzheimer's disease. *Pharmacol Ther* **116**, 266-286.
- Fischer, A., Sananbenesi, F., Pang, P. T., Lu, B. and Tsai, L. H. (2005) Opposing roles of transient and prolonged expression of p25 in synaptic plasticity and hippocampus-dependent memory. *Neuron* 48, 825-838.
- Fletcher, A. I., Shuang, R., Giovannucci, D. R., Zhang, L., Bittner, M. A. and Stuenkel, E. L. (1999) Regulation of exocytosis by cyclin-dependent kinase 5 via phosphorylation of Munc18. *J Biol Chem* 274, 4027-4035.
- Florean, C., Zampese, E., Zanese, M., Brunello, L., Ichas, F., De Giorgi, F. and Pizzo, P. (2008) High content analysis of gamma-secretase activity reveals variable dominance of presenilin mutations linked to familial Alzheimer's disease. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1783, 1551-1560.
- Florio, T., Thellung, S., Amico, C., Robello, M., Salmona, M., Bugiani, O., Tagliavini, F., Forloni, G. and Schettini, G. (1998) Prion protein fragment 106-126 induces apoptotic cell death and impairment of L-type voltage-sensitive calcium channel activity in the GH3 cell line. J Neurosci Res 54, 341-352.
- Floyd, S. R., Porro, E. B., Slepnev, V. I., Ochoa, G. C., Tsai, L. H. and De Camilli, P. (2001) Amphiphysin 1 binds the cyclin-dependent kinase (cdk) 5 regulatory subunit p35 and is phosphorylated by cdk5 and cdc2. *J Biol Chem* 276, 8104-8110.
- Fu, A. K., Fu, W. Y., Cheung, J., Tsim, K. W., Ip, F. C., Wang, J. H. and Ip, N. Y. (2001) Cdk5 is involved in neuregulin-induced AChR expression at the neuromuscular junction. *Nat Neurosci* 4, 374-381.
- Fu, A. K., Ip, F. C., Fu, W. Y., Cheung, J., Wang, J. H., Yung, W. H. and Ip, N. Y. (2005) Aberrant motor axon projection, acetylcholine receptor clustering, and neurotransmission in cyclindependent kinase 5 null mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 102, 15224-15229.

- Fu, W. Y., Cheng, K., Fu, A. K. and Ip, N. Y. (2011) Cyclin-dependent kinase 5-dependent phosphorylation of Pctaire1 regulates dendrite development. *Neuroscience*.
- Futter, M., Uematsu, K., Bullock, S. A., Kim, Y., Hemmings, H. C., Jr., Nishi, A., Greengard, P. and Nairn, A. C. (2005) Phosphorylation of spinophilin by ERK and cyclin-dependent PK 5 (Cdk5). *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **102**, 3489-3494.
- Giannopoulos, P. N., Robertson, C., Jodoin, J., Paudel, H., Booth, S. A. and LeBlanc, A. C. (2009) Phosphorylation of prion protein at serine 43 induces prion protein conformational change. J Neurosci 29, 8743-8751.
- Gilmore, E. C., Ohshima, T., Goffinet, A. M., Kulkarni, A. B. and Herrup, K. (1998) Cyclindependent kinase 5-deficient mice demonstrate novel developmental arrest in cerebral cortex. *J Neurosci* 18, 6370-6377.
- Gimbel, D. A., Nygaard, H. B., Coffey, E. E., Gunther, E. C., Lauren, J., Gimbel, Z. A. and Strittmatter, S. M. (2010) Memory impairment in transgenic Alzheimer mice requires cellular prion protein. *J Neurosci* **30**, 6367-6374.
- Golde, T. E. (2003) Alzheimer disease therapy: can the amyloid cascade be halted? *J Clin Invest* **111**, 11-18.
- Golias, C. H., Charalabopoulos, A. and Charalabopoulos, K. (2004) Cell proliferation and cell cycle control: a mini review. *Int J Clin Pract* 58, 1134-1141.
- Grammer, M., Li, D., Arunthavasothy, N. and Lipski, J. (2008) Contribution of calpain activation to early stages of hippocampal damage during oxygen-glucose deprivation. *Brain Res* **1196**, 121-130.
- Granic, I., Nyakas, C., Luiten, P. G., Eisel, U. L., Halmy, L. G., Gross, G., Schoemaker, H., Moller,
  A. and Nimmrich, V. (2010) Calpain inhibition prevents amyloid-beta-induced neurodegeneration and associated behavioral dysfunction in rats. *Neuropharmacology* 59, 334-342.
- Grant, P., Sharma, P. and Pant, H. C. (2001) Cyclin-dependent protein kinase 5 (Cdk5) and the regulation of neurofilament metabolism. *Eur J Biochem* **268**, 1534-1546.

- Green, K. N., Smith, I. F. and Laferla, F. M. (2007) Role of calcium in the pathogenesis of Alzheimer's disease and transgenic models. *Subcell Biochem* **45**, 507-521.
- Grundke-Iqbal, I., Iqbal, K., Quinlan, M., Tung, Y. C., Zaidi, M. S. and Wisniewski, H. M. (1986a) Microtubule-associated protein tau. A component of Alzheimer paired helical filaments. J Biol Chem 261, 6084-6089.
- Grundke-Iqbal, I., Iqbal, K., Tung, Y. C., Quinlan, M., Wisniewski, H. M. and Binder, L. I. (1986b) Abnormal phosphorylation of the microtubule-associated protein tau (tau) in Alzheimer cytoskeletal pathology. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 83, 4913-4917.
- Grynspan, F., Griffin, W. R., Cataldo, A., Katayama, S. and Nixon, R. A. (1997) Active site-directed antibodies identify calpain II as an early-appearing and pervasive component of neurofibrillary pathology in Alzheimer's disease. *Brain Res* **763**, 145-158.
- Hamdane, M., Bretteville, A., Sambo, A. V., Schindowski, K., Begard, S., Delacourte, A., Bertrand,
  P. and Buee, L. (2005) p25/Cdk5-mediated retinoblastoma phosphorylation is an early event in neuronal cell death. *J Cell Sci* 118, 1291-1298.
- Hamdane, M., Sambo, A. V., Delobel, P., Begard, S., Violleau, A., Delacourte, A., Bertrand, P., Benavides, J. and Buee, L. (2003) Mitotic-like tau phosphorylation by p25-Cdk5 kinase complex. J Biol Chem 278, 34026-34034.
- Harada, T., Morooka, T., Ogawa, S. and Nishida, E. (2001) ERK induces p35, a neuron-specific activator of Cdk5, through induction of Egr1. *Nat Cell Biol* **3**, 453-459.
- Hardingham, G. E. and Bading, H. (2010) Synaptic versus extrasynaptic NMDA receptor signalling: implications for neurodegenerative disorders. *Nat Rev Neurosci* **11**, 682-696.
- Hardy, J. (1997) Amyloid, the presenilins and Alzheimer's disease. Trends Neurosci 20, 154-159.
- Hardy, J. and Selkoe, D. J. (2002) The amyloid hypothesis of Alzheimer's disease: progress and problems on the road to therapeutics. *Science* **297**, 353-356.
- Harris, D. A. (1999) Cellular biology of prion diseases. Clin Microbiol Rev 12, 429-444.
- Hawasli, A. H., Benavides, D. R., Nguyen, C., Kansy, J. W., Hayashi, K., Chambon, P., Greengard, P., Powell, C. M., Cooper, D. C. and Bibb, J. A. (2007) Cyclin-dependent kinase 5 governs

learning and synaptic plasticity via control of NMDAR degradation. *Nat Neurosci* 10, 880-886.

- Hawasli, A. H., Koovakkattu, D., Hayashi, K., Anderson, A. E., Powell, C. M., Sinton, C. M., Bibb, J.A. and Cooper, D. C. (2009) Regulation of hippocampal and behavioral excitability by cyclindependent kinase 5. *PLoS One* 4, e5808.
- Hernandez-Ortega, K., Ferrera, P. and Arias, C. (2007) Sequential expression of cell-cycle regulators and Alzheimer's disease-related proteins in entorhinal cortex after hippocampal excitotoxic damage. *J Neurosci Res* **85**, 1744-1751.
- Hirasawa, M., Ohshima, T., Takahashi, S., Longenecker, G., Honjo, Y., Veeranna, Pant, H. C., Mikoshiba, K., Brady, R. O. and Kulkarni, A. B. (2004) Perinatal abrogation of Cdk5 expression in brain results in neuronal migration defects. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 101, 6249-6254.
- Hirota, Y., Ohshima, T., Kaneko, N., Ikeda, M., Iwasato, T., Kulkarni, A. B., Mikoshiba, K., Okano,
  H. and Sawamoto, K. (2007) Cyclin-dependent kinase 5 is required for control of neuroblast
  migration in the postnatal subventricular zone. *J Neurosci* 27, 12829-12838.
- Hisanaga, S. and Endo, R. (2010) Regulation and role of cyclin-dependent kinase activity in neuronal survival and death. *J Neurochem* **115**, 1309-1321.
- Hoglinger, G. U., Breunig, J. J., Depboylu, C., Rouaux, C., Michel, P. P., Alvarez-Fischer, D.,
  Boutillier, A. L., Degregori, J., Oertel, W. H., Rakic, P., Hirsch, E. C. and Hunot, S. (2007)
  The pRb/E2F cell-cycle pathway mediates cell death in Parkinson's disease. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 104, 3585-3590.
- Holzbaur, E. L. (2004) Tangled NUDELs? Nat Cell Biol 6, 569-570.
- Howell, B. W., Lanier, L. M., Frank, R., Gertler, F. B. and Cooper, J. A. (1999) The disabled 1 phosphotyrosine-binding domain binds to the internalization signals of transmembrane glycoproteins and to phospholipids. *Mol Cell Biol* **19**, 5179-5188.
- Humbert, S., Dhavan, R. and Tsai, L. (2000a) p39 activates cdk5 in neurons, and is associated with the actin cytoskeleton. *J Cell Sci* **113** ( **Pt 6**), 975-983.

- Humbert, S., Lanier, L. M. and Tsai, L. H. (2000b) Synaptic localization of p39, a neuronal activator of cdk5. *Neuroreport* **11**, 2213-2216.
- Iijima, K., Ando, K., Takeda, S., Satoh, Y., Seki, T., Itohara, S., Greengard, P., Kirino, Y., Nairn, A.
  C. and Suzuki, T. (2000) Neuron-specific phosphorylation of Alzheimer's beta-amyloid precursor protein by cyclin-dependent kinase 5. *J Neurochem* 75, 1085-1091.
- Iqbal, K., Alonso Adel, C., Chen, S., Chohan, M. O., El-Akkad, E., Gong, C. X., Khatoon, S., Li, B., Liu, F., Rahman, A., Tanimukai, H. and Grundke-Iqbal, I. (2005) Tau pathology in Alzheimer disease and other tauopathies. *Biochim Biophys Acta* **1739**, 198-210.
- Iwatsubo, T. (2003) Aggregation of alpha-synuclein in the pathogenesis of Parkinson's disease. J Neurol 250 Suppl 3, III11-14.
- Jessberger, S., Aigner, S., Clemenson, G. D., Jr., Toni, N., Lie, D. C., Karalay, O., Overall, R., Kempermann, G. and Gage, F. H. (2008) Cdk5 regulates accurate maturation of newborn granule cells in the adult hippocampus. *PLoS Biol* 6, e272.
- Jessberger, S., Gage, F. H., Eisch, A. J. and Lagace, D. C. (2009) Making a neuron: Cdk5 in embryonic and adult neurogenesis. *Trends Neurosci* **32**, 575-582.
- Johnson, R. T. (2005) Prion diseases. Lancet Neurol 4, 635-642.
- Katchanov, J., Harms, C., Gertz, K., Hauck, L., Waeber, C., Hirt, L., Priller, J., von Harsdorf, R., Bruck, W., Hortnagl, H., Dirnagl, U., Bhide, P. G. and Endres, M. (2001) Mild cerebral ischemia induces loss of cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitors and activation of cell cycle machinery before delayed neuronal cell death. *J Neurosci* 21, 5045-5053.
- Kato, J. Y., Matsuoka, M., Strom, D. K. and Sherr, C. J. (1994) Regulation of cyclin D-dependent kinase 4 (cdk4) by cdk4-activating kinase. *Mol Cell Biol* 14, 2713-2721.
- Keck, S., Nitsch, R., Grune, T. and Ullrich, O. (2003) Proteasome inhibition by paired helical filament-tau in brains of patients with Alzheimer's disease. *J Neurochem* **85**, 115-122.
- Kerokoski, P., Suuronen, T., Salminen, A., Soininen, H. and Pirttila, T. (2002) Influence of phosphorylation of p35, an activator of cyclin-dependent kinase 5 (cdk5), on the proteolysis of p35. *Brain Res Mol Brain Res* **106**, 50-56.

- Kesavapany, S., Lau, K. F., McLoughlin, D. M., Brownlees, J., Ackerley, S., Leigh, P. N., Shaw, C.
  E. and Miller, C. C. (2001) p35/cdk5 binds and phosphorylates beta-catenin and regulates beta-catenin/presenilin-1 interaction. *Eur J Neurosci* 13, 241-247.
- Keshvara, L., Magdaleno, S., Benhayon, D. and Curran, T. (2002) Cyclin-dependent kinase 5 phosphorylates disabled 1 independently of Reelin signaling. *J Neurosci* **22**, 4869-4877.
- Khatoon, S., Grundke-Iqbal, I. and Iqbal, K. (1992) Brain levels of microtubule-associated protein tau are elevated in Alzheimer's disease: a radioimmuno-slot-blot assay for nanograms of the protein. J Neurochem 59, 750-753.
- Kim, E. and Sheng, M. (2004) PDZ domain proteins of synapses. Nat Rev Neurosci 5, 771-781.
- Kim, S. H. and Ryan, T. A. (2010) CDK5 serves as a major control point in neurotransmitter release. *Neuron* **67**, 797-809.
- Kirschenbaum, F., Hsu, S. C., Cordell, B. and McCarthy, J. V. (2001) Glycogen synthase kinase-3beta regulates presenilin 1 C-terminal fragment levels. *J Biol Chem* **276**, 30701-30707.
- Kitada, T., Asakawa, S., Hattori, N., Matsumine, H., Yamamura, Y., Minoshima, S., Yokochi, M., Mizuno, Y. and Shimizu, N. (1998) Mutations in the parkin gene cause autosomal recessive juvenile parkinsonism. *Nature* **392**, 605-608.
- Kitazawa, M., Cheng, D. and Laferla, F. M. (2009) Chronic copper exposure exacerbates both amyloid and tau pathology and selectively dysregulates cdk5 in a mouse model of AD. J Neurochem 108, 1550-1560.
- Ko, J., Humbert, S., Bronson, R. T., Takahashi, S., Kulkarni, A. B., Li, E. and Tsai, L. H. (2001) p35 and p39 are essential for cyclin-dependent kinase 5 function during neurodevelopment. J *Neurosci* 21, 6758-6771.
- Kosik, K. S., Joachim, C. L. and Selkoe, D. J. (1986) Microtubule-associated protein tau (tau) is a major antigenic component of paired helical filaments in Alzheimer disease. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 83, 4044-4048.
- Kourie, J. I. and Shorthouse, A. A. (2000) Properties of cytotoxic peptide-formed ion channels. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* **278**, C1063-1087.

- Kruman, II, Wersto, R. P., Cardozo-Pelaez, F., Smilenov, L., Chan, S. L., Chrest, F. J., Emokpae, R., Jr., Gorospe, M. and Mattson, M. P. (2004) Cell cycle activation linked to neuronal cell death initiated by DNA damage. *Neuron* 41, 549-561.
- Kuan, C. Y., Schloemer, A. J., Lu, A., Burns, K. A., Weng, W. L., Williams, M. T., Strauss, K. I., Vorhees, C. V., Flavell, R. A., Davis, R. J., Sharp, F. R. and Rakic, P. (2004) Hypoxiaischemia induces DNA synthesis without cell proliferation in dying neurons in adult rodent brain. *J Neurosci* 24, 10763-10772.
- Kusakawa, G., Saito, T., Onuki, R., Ishiguro, K., Kishimoto, T. and Hisanaga, S. (2000) Calpaindependent proteolytic cleavage of the p35 cyclin-dependent kinase 5 activator to p25. *J Biol Chem* 275, 17166-17172.
- Kwon, Y. T., Gupta, A., Zhou, Y., Nikolic, M. and Tsai, L. H. (2000) Regulation of N-cadherinmediated adhesion by the p35-Cdk5 kinase. *Curr Biol* 10, 363-372.
- Kwon, Y. T. and Tsai, L. H. (1998) A novel disruption of cortical development in p35(-/-) mice distinct from reeler. J Comp Neurol 395, 510-522.
- Kwon, Y. T., Tsai, L. H. and Crandall, J. E. (1999) Callosal axon guidance defects in p35(-/-) mice. J Comp Neurol 415, 218-229.
- Lacor, P. N., Buniel, M. C., Chang, L., Fernandez, S. J., Gong, Y., Viola, K. L., Lambert, M. P., Velasco, P. T., Bigio, E. H., Finch, C. E., Krafft, G. A. and Klein, W. L. (2004) Synaptic targeting by Alzheimer's-related amyloid beta oligomers. *J Neurosci* 24, 10191-10200.
- Lai, K. O. and Ip, N. Y. (2009) Recent advances in understanding the roles of Cdk5 in synaptic plasticity. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1792, 741-745.
- Lalioti, V., Pulido, D. and Sandoval, I. V. (2010) Cdk5, the multifunctional surveyor. *Cell Cycle* 9, 284-311.
- Langou, K., Moumen, A., Pellegrino, C., Aebischer, J., Medina, I., Aebischer, P. and Raoul, C. (2010) AAV-mediated expression of wild-type and ALS-linked mutant VAPB selectively triggers death of motoneurons through a Ca2+-dependent ER-associated pathway. *J Neurochem* 114, 795-809.

- Lau, K. F., Howlett, D. R., Kesavapany, S., Standen, C. L., Dingwall, C., McLoughlin, D. M. and Miller, C. C. (2002) Cyclin-dependent kinase-5/p35 phosphorylates Presenilin 1 to regulate carboxy-terminal fragment stability. *Mol Cell Neurosci* 20, 13-20.
- Lee, K. Y., Clark, A. W., Rosales, J. L., Chapman, K., Fung, T. and Johnston, R. N. (1999) Elevated neuronal Cdc2-like kinase activity in the Alzheimer disease brain. *Neurosci Res* **34**, 21-29.
- Lee, M. S., Kao, S. C., Lemere, C. A., Xia, W., Tseng, H. C., Zhou, Y., Neve, R., Ahlijanian, M. K. and Tsai, L. H. (2003) APP processing is regulated by cytoplasmic phosphorylation. J Cell Biol 163, 83-95.
- Lee, M. S., Kwon, Y. T., Li, M., Peng, J., Friedlander, R. M. and Tsai, L. H. (2000) Neurotoxicity induces cleavage of p35 to p25 by calpain. *Nature* **405**, 360-364.
- Lee, M. S. and Tsai, L. H. (2003) Cdk5: one of the links between senile plaques and neurofibrillary tangles? *J Alzheimers Dis* 5, 127-137.
- Li, B. S., Sun, M. K., Zhang, L., Takahashi, S., Ma, W., Vinade, L., Kulkarni, A. B., Brady, R. O. and Pant, H. C. (2001) Regulation of NMDA receptors by cyclin-dependent kinase-5. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 98, 12742-12747.
- Li, T., Hawkes, C., Qureshi, H. Y., Kar, S. and Paudel, H. K. (2006) Cyclin-dependent protein kinase
  5 primes microtubule-associated protein tau site-specifically for glycogen synthase kinase
  3beta. *Biochemistry* 45, 3134-3145.
- Liang, B., Duan, B. Y., Zhou, X. P., Gong, J. X. and Luo, Z. G. (2010) Calpain activation promotes BACE1 expression, amyloid precursor protein processing, and amyloid plaque formation in a transgenic mouse model of Alzheimer disease. *J Biol Chem* 285, 27737-27744.
- Lin, H., Chen, M. C. and Ku, C. T. (2009) Cyclin-dependent kinase 5 regulates steroidogenic acute regulatory protein and androgen production in mouse Leydig cells. *Endocrinology* **150**, 396-403.
- Lin, M. C., Mirzabekov, T. and Kagan, B. L. (1997) Channel formation by a neurotoxic prion protein fragment. *J Biol Chem* **272**, 44-47.

- Lin, W., Dominguez, B., Yang, J., Aryal, P., Brandon, E. P., Gage, F. H. and Lee, K. F. (2005) Neurotransmitter acetylcholine negatively regulates neuromuscular synapse formation by a Cdk5-dependent mechanism. *Neuron* 46, 569-579.
- Liu, F., Liang, Z., Shi, J., Yin, D., El-Akkad, E., Grundke-Iqbal, I., Iqbal, K. and Gong, C. X. (2006) PKA modulates GSK-3beta- and cdk5-catalyzed phosphorylation of tau in site- and kinasespecific manners. *FEBS Lett* **580**, 6269-6274.
- Liu, J., Liu, M. C. and Wang, K. K. (2008a) Calpain in the CNS: from synaptic function to neurotoxicity. *Sci Signal* **1**, re1.
- Liu, S. J., Zhang, J. Y., Li, H. L., Fang, Z. Y., Wang, Q., Deng, H. M., Gong, C. X., Grundke-Iqbal, I., Iqbal, K. and Wang, J. Z. (2004a) Tau becomes a more favorable substrate for GSK-3 when it is prephosphorylated by PKA in rat brain. *J Biol Chem* 279, 50078-50088.
- Liu, T., Perry, G., Chan, H. W., Verdile, G., Martins, R. N., Smith, M. A. and Atwood, C. S. (2004b) Amyloid-beta-induced toxicity of primary neurons is dependent upon differentiationassociated increases in tau and cyclin-dependent kinase 5 expression. *J Neurochem* 88, 554-563.
- Liu, X. A., Zhu, L. Q., Zhang, Q., Shi, H. R., Wang, S. H., Wang, Q. and Wang, J. Z. (2008b) Estradiol attenuates tau hyperphosphorylation induced by upregulation of protein kinase-a. *Neurochem Res* 33, 1811-1820.
- Lo, E. H., Dalkara, T. and Moskowitz, M. A. (2003) Mechanisms, challenges and opportunities in stroke. *Nat Rev Neurosci* 4, 399-415.
- Lopes, J. P., Blurton-Jones, M., Yamasaki, T. R., Agostinho, P. and LaFerla, F. M. (2009a) Activation of cell cycle proteins in transgenic mice in response to neuronal loss but not amyloid-beta and tau pathology. *J Alzheimers Dis* **16**, 541-549.
- Lopes, J. P., Oliveira, C. R. and Agostinho, P. (2007) Role of cyclin-dependent kinase 5 in the neurodegenerative process triggered by amyloid-Beta and prion peptides: implications for Alzheimer's disease and prion-related encephalopathies. *Cell Mol Neurobiol* **27**, 943-957.

- Lopes, J. P., Oliveira, C. R. and Agostinho, P. (2009b) Cdk5 acts as a mediator of neuronal cell cycle re-entry triggered by amyloid-beta and prion peptides. *Cell Cycle* **8**, 97-104.
- Lopes, J. P., Oliveira, C. R. and Agostinho, P. (2009c) Cell cycle re-entry in Alzheimer's disease: a major neuropathological characteristic? *Curr Alzheimer Res* **6**, 205-212.
- Lopes, J. P., Oliveira, C. R. and Agostinho, P. (2010) Neurodegeneration in an Abeta-induced model of Alzheimer's disease: the role of Cdk5. *Aging Cell* **9**, 64-77.
- Lucking, C. B., Durr, A., Bonifati, V., Vaughan, J., De Michele, G., Gasser, T., Harhangi, B. S., Meco, G., Denefle, P., Wood, N. W., Agid, Y. and Brice, A. (2000) Association between early-onset Parkinson's disease and mutations in the parkin gene. *N Engl J Med* 342, 1560-1567.
- Majd, S., Zarifkar, A., Rastegar, K. and Takhshid, M. A. (2008) Different fibrillar Abeta 1-42 concentrations induce adult hippocampal neurons to reenter various phases of the cell cycle. *Brain Res* 1218, 224-229.
- Mandelkow, E. M., Drewes, G., Biernat, J., Gustke, N., Van Lint, J., Vandenheede, J. R. and Mandelkow, E. (1992) Glycogen synthase kinase-3 and the Alzheimer-like state of microtubule-associated protein tau. *FEBS Lett* **314**, 315-321.
- Marambaud, P., Shioi, J., Serban, G., Georgakopoulos, A., Sarner, S., Nagy, V., Baki, L., Wen, P., Efthimiopoulos, S., Shao, Z., Wisniewski, T. and Robakis, N. K. (2002) A presenilin-1/gamma-secretase cleavage releases the E-cadherin intracellular domain and regulates disassembly of adherens junctions. *EMBO J* 21, 1948-1956.
- Matsubara, M., Kusubata, M., Ishiguro, K., Uchida, T., Titani, K. and Taniguchi, H. (1996) Sitespecific phosphorylation of synapsin I by mitogen-activated protein kinase and Cdk5 and its effects on physiological functions. *J Biol Chem* **271**, 21108-21113.
- McKinley, M. P., Meyer, R. K., Kenaga, L., Rahbar, F., Cotter, R., Serban, A. and Prusiner, S. B. (1991) Scrapie prion rod formation in vitro requires both detergent extraction and limited proteolysis. *J Virol* 65, 1340-1351.

- McLarnon, J. G. and Ryu, J. K. (2008) Relevance of abeta1-42 intrahippocampal injection as an animal model of inflamed Alzheimer's disease brain. *Curr Alzheimer Res* **5**, 475-480.
- McShea, A., Lee, H. G., Petersen, R. B., Casadesus, G., Vincent, I., Linford, N. J., Funk, J. O., Shapiro, R. A. and Smith, M. A. (2007) Neuronal cell cycle re-entry mediates Alzheimer disease-type changes. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1772, 467-472.
- Mehta, S. L., Manhas, N. and Raghubir, R. (2007) Molecular targets in cerebral ischemia for developing novel therapeutics. *Brain Res Rev* 54, 34-66.
- Melo, J. B., Agostinho, P. and Oliveira, C. R. (2007) Prion protein aggregation and neurotoxicity in cortical neurons. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1096, 220-229.
- Meredith, G. E., Totterdell, S., Beales, M. and Meshul, C. K. (2009) Impaired glutamate homeostasis and programmed cell death in a chronic MPTP mouse model of Parkinson's disease. *Exp Neurol* **219**, 334-340.
- Millhauser, G. L. (2007) Copper and the prion protein: methods, structures, function, and disease. Annu Rev Phys Chem 58, 299-320.
- Minegishi, S., Asada, A., Miyauchi, S., Fuchigami, T., Saito, T. and Hisanaga, S. (2010) Membrane association facilitates degradation and cleavage of the cyclin-dependent kinase 5 activators p35 and p39. *Biochemistry* **49**, 5482-5493.
- Mitsios, N., Pennucci, R., Krupinski, J., Sanfeliu, C., Gaffney, J., Kumar, P., Kumar, S., Juan-Babot,O. and Slevin, M. (2007) Expression of cyclin-dependent kinase 5 mRNA and protein in the human brain following acute ischemic stroke. *Brain Pathol* 17, 11-23.
- Morabito, M. A., Sheng, M. and Tsai, L. H. (2004) Cyclin-dependent kinase 5 phosphorylates the Nterminal domain of the postsynaptic density protein PSD-95 in neurons. *J Neurosci* 24, 865-876.
- Morgan, D. O. (1997) Cyclin-dependent kinases: engines, clocks, and microprocessors. *Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol* **13**, 261-291.
- Mouillet-Richard, S., Ermonval, M., Chebassier, C., Laplanche, J. L., Lehmann, S., Launay, J. M. and Kellermann, O. (2000) Signal transduction through prion protein. *Science* **289**, 1925-1928.

- Muntane, G., Dalfo, E., Martinez, A. and Ferrer, I. (2008) Phosphorylation of tau and alpha-synuclein in synaptic-enriched fractions of the frontal cortex in Alzheimer's disease, and in Parkinson's disease and related alpha-synucleinopathies. *Neuroscience* **152**, 913-923.
- Nakamura, S., Kawamoto, Y., Nakano, S., Akiguchi, I. and Kimura, J. (1997) p35nck5a and cyclindependent kinase 5 colocalize in Lewy bodies of brains with Parkinson's disease. *Acta Neuropathol* **94**, 153-157.
- Nakka, V. P., Gusain, A., Mehta, S. L. and Raghubir, R. (2008) Molecular mechanisms of apoptosis in cerebral ischemia: multiple neuroprotective opportunities. *Mol Neurobiol* **37**, 7-38.
- Neve, R. L. and McPhie, D. L. (2006) The cell cycle as a therapeutic target for Alzheimer's disease. *Pharmacol Ther* **111**, 99-113.
- Newman, M., Musgrave, I. F. and Lardelli, M. (2007) Alzheimer disease: amyloidogenesis, the presenilins and animal models. *Biochim Biophys Acta* **1772**, 285-297.
- Nguyen, M. D., Boudreau, M., Kriz, J., Couillard-Despres, S., Kaplan, D. R. and Julien, J. P. (2003) Cell cycle regulators in the neuronal death pathway of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis caused by mutant superoxide dismutase 1. *J Neurosci* 23, 2131-2140.
- Nguyen, M. D. and Julien, J. P. (2003) Cyclin-dependent kinase 5 in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Neurosignals* **12**, 215-220.
- Nguyen, M. D., Lariviere, R. C. and Julien, J. P. (2001) Deregulation of Cdk5 in a mouse model of ALS: toxicity alleviated by perikaryal neurofilament inclusions. *Neuron* **30**, 135-147.
- Nguyen, M. D., Mushynski, W. E. and Julien, J. P. (2002) Cycling at the interface between neurodevelopment and neurodegeneration. *Cell Death Differ* **9**, 1294-1306.
- Niethammer, M., Smith, D. S., Ayala, R., Peng, J., Ko, J., Lee, M. S., Morabito, M. and Tsai, L. H. (2000) NUDEL is a novel Cdk5 substrate that associates with LIS1 and cytoplasmic dynein. *Neuron* 28, 697-711.
- Nigg, E. A. (2001) Mitotic kinases as regulators of cell division and its checkpoints. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* **2**, 21-32.

- Nikolic, M., Dudek, H., Kwon, Y. T., Ramos, Y. F. and Tsai, L. H. (1996) The cdk5/p35 kinase is essential for neurite outgrowth during neuronal differentiation. *Genes Dev* **10**, 816-825.
- Oddo, S. (2008) The ubiquitin-proteasome system in Alzheimer's disease. *J Cell Mol Med* **12**, 363-373.
- Ohshima, T., Gilmore, E. C., Longenecker, G., Jacobowitz, D. M., Brady, R. O., Herrup, K. and Kulkarni, A. B. (1999) Migration defects of cdk5(-/-) neurons in the developing cerebellum is cell autonomous. *J Neurosci* 19, 6017-6026.
- Ohshima, T., Ogura, H., Tomizawa, K., Hayashi, K., Suzuki, H., Saito, T., Kamei, H., Nishi, A., Bibb,
  J. A., Hisanaga, S., Matsui, H. and Mikoshiba, K. (2005) Impairment of hippocampal longterm depression and defective spatial learning and memory in p35 mice. *J Neurochem* 94, 917-925.
- Ohshima, T., Ward, J. M., Huh, C. G., Longenecker, G., Veeranna, Pant, H. C., Brady, R. O., Martin, L. J. and Kulkarni, A. B. (1996) Targeted disruption of the cyclin-dependent kinase 5 gene results in abnormal corticogenesis, neuronal pathology and perinatal death. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 93, 11173-11178.
- Okano, H. J., Pfaff, D. W. and Gibbs, R. B. (1993) RB and Cdc2 expression in brain: correlations with 3H-thymidine incorporation and neurogenesis. *J Neurosci* **13**, 2930-2938.
- Paglini, G., Pigino, G., Kunda, P., Morfini, G., Maccioni, R., Quiroga, S., Ferreira, A. and Caceres, A. (1998) Evidence for the participation of the neuron-specific CDK5 activator P35 during laminin-enhanced axonal growth. *J Neurosci* 18, 9858-9869.
- Pallari, H. M., Lindqvist, J., Torvaldson, E., Ferraris, S. E., He, T., Sahlgren, C. and Eriksson, J. E. (2011) Nestin as a regulator of Cdk5 in differentiating myoblasts. *Mol Biol Cell*.
- Panteleeva, I., Rouaux, C., Larmet, Y., Boutillier, S., Loeffler, J. P. and Boutillier, A. L. (2004)
  HDAC-3 participates in the repression of e2f-dependent gene transcription in primary
  differentiated neurons. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* 1030, 656-660.
- Park, D. S., Morris, E. J., Bremner, R., Keramaris, E., Padmanabhan, J., Rosenbaum, M., Shelanski,M. L., Geller, H. M. and Greene, L. A. (2000) Involvement of retinoblastoma family

members and E2F/DP complexes in the death of neurons evoked by DNA damage. *J Neurosci* **20**, 3104-3114.

- Patrick, G. N., Zhou, P., Kwon, Y. T., Howley, P. M. and Tsai, L. H. (1998) p35, the neuronalspecific activator of cyclin-dependent kinase 5 (Cdk5) is degraded by the ubiquitinproteasome pathway. *J Biol Chem* **273**, 24057-24064.
- Patrick, G. N., Zukerberg, L., Nikolic, M., de la Monte, S., Dikkes, P. and Tsai, L. H. (1999)
  Conversion of p35 to p25 deregulates Cdk5 activity and promotes neurodegeneration. *Nature* 402, 615-622.
- Patzke, H. and Tsai, L. H. (2002) Cdk5 sinks into ALS. Trends Neurosci 25, 8-10.
- Pavletich, N. P. (1999) Mechanisms of cyclin-dependent kinase regulation: structures of Cdks, their cyclin activators, and Cip and INK4 inhibitors. *J Mol Biol* **287**, 821-828.
- Pei, J. J., Grundke-Iqbal, I., Iqbal, K., Bogdanovic, N., Winblad, B. and Cowburn, R. F. (1998) Accumulation of cyclin-dependent kinase 5 (cdk5) in neurons with early stages of Alzheimer's disease neurofibrillary degeneration. *Brain Res* **797**, 267-277.
- Peter, M. (1997) The regulation of cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitors (CKIs). *Prog Cell Cycle Res* **3**, 99-108.
- Piedrahita, D., Hernandez, I., Lopez-Tobon, A., Fedorov, D., Obara, B., Manjunath, B. S., Boudreau, R. L., Davidson, B., Laferla, F., Gallego-Gomez, J. C., Kosik, K. S. and Cardona-Gomez, G. P. (2010) Silencing of CDK5 reduces neurofibrillary tangles in transgenic alzheimer's mice. *J Neurosci* 30, 13966-13976.
- Plattner, F., Angelo, M. and Giese, K. P. (2006) The roles of cyclin-dependent kinase 5 and glycogen synthase kinase 3 in tau hyperphosphorylation. *J Biol Chem* **281**, 25457-25465.
- Pollanen, M. S., Dickson, D. W. and Bergeron, C. (1993) Pathology and biology of the Lewy body. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 52, 183-191.
- Prusiner, S. B. (1998) Prions. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 95, 13363-13383.
- Przedborski, S. (2005) Pathogenesis of nigral cell death in Parkinson's disease. *Parkinsonism Relat Disord* **11 Suppl 1,** S3-7.

- Przedborski, S. and Vila, M. (2001) The last decade in Parkinson's disease research. Basic sciences. Adv Neurol 86, 177-186.
- Qu, D., Rashidian, J., Mount, M. P., Aleyasin, H., Parsanejad, M., Lira, A., Haque, E., Zhang, Y., Callaghan, S., Daigle, M., Rousseaux, M. W., Slack, R. S., Albert, P. R., Vincent, I., Woulfe, J. M. and Park, D. S. (2007) Role of Cdk5-mediated phosphorylation of Prx2 in MPTP toxicity and Parkinson's disease. *Neuron* 55, 37-52.
- Quon, D., Wang, Y., Catalano, R., Scardina, J. M., Murakami, K. and Cordell, B. (1991) Formation of beta-amyloid protein deposits in brains of transgenic mice. *Nature* 352, 239-241.
- Rashidian, J., Iyirhiaro, G., Aleyasin, H., Rios, M., Vincent, I., Callaghan, S., Bland, R. J., Slack, R.
  S., During, M. J. and Park, D. S. (2005) Multiple cyclin-dependent kinases signals are critical mediators of ischemia/hypoxic neuronal death in vitro and in vivo. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 102, 14080-14085.
- Rashidian, J., Rousseaux, M. W., Venderova, K., Qu, D., Callaghan, S. M., Phillips, M., Bland, R. J., During, M. J., Mao, Z., Slack, R. S. and Park, D. S. (2009) Essential role of cytoplasmic cdk5 and Prx2 in multiple ischemic injury models, in vivo. *J Neurosci* 29, 12497-12505.
- Raynaud, F. and Marcilhac, A. (2006) Implication of calpain in neuronal apoptosis. A possible regulation of Alzheimer's disease. *Febs J* **273**, 3437-3443.
- Resende, R., Ferreiro, E., Pereira, C. and Resende de Oliveira, C. (2008) Neurotoxic effect of oligomeric and fibrillar species of amyloid-beta peptide 1-42: Involvement of endoplasmic reticulum calcium release in oligomer-induced cell death. *Neuroscience*.
- Resende, R., Pereira, C., Agostinho, P., Vieira, A. P., Malva, J. O. and Oliveira, C. R. (2007) Susceptibility of hippocampal neurons to Abeta peptide toxicity is associated with perturbation of Ca2+ homeostasis. *Brain Res* **1143**, 11-21.
- Rodgers, A. B. (2008) *Alzheimer's Disease: unraveling the mistery*. National Institute on Aging: Bethesda.

- Roselli, F., Tirard, M., Lu, J., Hutzler, P., Lamberti, P., Livrea, P., Morabito, M. and Almeida, O. F.
  (2005) Soluble beta-amyloid1-40 induces NMDA-dependent degradation of postsynaptic density-95 at glutamatergic synapses. *J Neurosci* 25, 11061-11070.
- Rosen, D. R. (1993) Mutations in Cu/Zn superoxide dismutase gene are associated with familial amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Nature* **364**, 362.
- Roucou, X., Gains, M. and LeBlanc, A. C. (2004) Neuroprotective functions of prion protein. J Neurosci Res 75, 153-161.
- Rubio de la Torre, E., Luzon-Toro, B., Forte-Lago, I., Minguez-Castellanos, A., Ferrer, I. and Hilfiker, S. (2009) Combined kinase inhibition modulates parkin inactivation. *Hum Mol Genet* 18, 809-823.
- Saito, T., Onuki, R., Fujita, Y., Kusakawa, G., Ishiguro, K., Bibb, J. A., Kishimoto, T. and Hisanaga,
  S. (2003) Developmental regulation of the proteolysis of the p35 cyclin-dependent kinase 5 activator by phosphorylation. *J Neurosci* 23, 1189-1197.
- Sandberg, M. K., Wallen, P., Wikstrom, M. A. and Kristensson, K. (2004) Scrapie-infected GT1-1 cells show impaired function of voltage-gated N-type calcium channels (Ca(v) 2.2) which is ameliorated by quinacrine treatment. *Neurobiol Dis* **15**, 143-151.
- Sato, K., Zhu, Y. S., Saito, T., Yotsumoto, K., Asada, A., Hasegawa, M. and Hisanaga, S. (2007) Regulation of membrane association and kinase activity of Cdk5-p35 by phosphorylation of p35. *J Neurosci Res* 85, 3071-3078.
- Saura, C. A., Choi, S. Y., Beglopoulos, V., Malkani, S., Zhang, D., Shankaranarayana Rao, B. S., Chattarji, S., Kelleher, R. J., 3rd, Kandel, E. R., Duff, K., Kirkwood, A. and Shen, J. (2004) Loss of presenilin function causes impairments of memory and synaptic plasticity followed by age-dependent neurodegeneration. *Neuron* 42, 23-36.
- Schubert, V. and Dotti, C. G. (2007) Transmitting on actin: synaptic control of dendritic architecture. *J Cell Sci* **120**, 205-212.
- Seeger, M., Nordstedt, C., Petanceska, S., Kovacs, D. M., Gouras, G. K., Hahne, S., Fraser, P., Levesque, L., Czernik, A. J., George-Hyslop, P. S., Sisodia, S. S., Thinakaran, G., Tanzi, R.

E., Greengard, P. and Gandy, S. (1997) Evidence for phosphorylation and oligomeric assembly of presenilin 1. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **94**, 5090-5094.

- Sengupta, A., Novak, M., Grundke-Iqbal, I. and Iqbal, K. (2006) Regulation of phosphorylation of tau by cyclin-dependent kinase 5 and glycogen synthase kinase-3 at substrate level. *FEBS Lett* 580, 5925-5933.
- Shahani, N. and Brandt, R. (2002) Functions and malfunctions of the tau proteins. *Cell Mol Life Sci* 59, 1668-1680.
- Shimomura, H., Imai, A. and Nashida, T. (2011) Evidence for amylase release by cyclin-dependent kinase 5 in the rat parotid. *Arch Biochem Biophys* **507**, 310-314.
- Shimura, H., Hattori, N., Kubo, S., Mizuno, Y., Asakawa, S., Minoshima, S., Shimizu, N., Iwai, K., Chiba, T., Tanaka, K. and Suzuki, T. (2000) Familial Parkinson disease gene product, parkin, is a ubiquitin-protein ligase. *Nat Genet* 25, 302-305.
- Shuang, R., Zhang, L., Fletcher, A., Groblewski, G. E., Pevsner, J. and Stuenkel, E. L. (1998) Regulation of Munc-18/syntaxin 1A interaction by cyclin-dependent kinase 5 in nerve endings. *J Biol Chem* 273, 4957-4966.
- Slevin, M. and Krupinski, J. (2009) Cyclin-dependent kinase-5 targeting for ischaemic stroke. *Curr Opin Pharmacol* **9**, 119-124.
- Smith, M. A. (1998) Alzheimer disease. Int Rev Neurobiol 42, 1-54.
- Smith, P. D., Crocker, S. J., Jackson-Lewis, V., Jordan-Sciutto, K. L., Hayley, S., Mount, M. P., O'Hare, M. J., Callaghan, S., Slack, R. S., Przedborski, S., Anisman, H. and Park, D. S. (2003) Cyclin-dependent kinase 5 is a mediator of dopaminergic neuron loss in a mouse model of Parkinson's disease. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 100, 13650-13655.
- Spillantini, M. G., Crowther, R. A., Jakes, R., Hasegawa, M. and Goedert, M. (1998) alpha-Synuclein in filamentous inclusions of Lewy bodies from Parkinson's disease and dementia with lewy bodies. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 95, 6469-6473.

- Steinhilb, M. L., Dias-Santagata, D., Fulga, T. A., Felch, D. L. and Feany, M. B. (2007) Tau phosphorylation sites work in concert to promote neurotoxicity in vivo. *Mol Biol Cell* 18, 5060-5068.
- Tada, T. and Sheng, M. (2006) Molecular mechanisms of dendritic spine morphogenesis. Curr Opin Neurobiol 16, 95-101.
- Tanaka, T., Veeranna, Ohshima, T., Rajan, P., Amin, N. D., Cho, A., Sreenath, T., Pant, H. C., Brady,
  R. O. and Kulkarni, A. B. (2001) Neuronal cyclin-dependent kinase 5 activity is critical for survival. *J Neurosci* 21, 550-558.
- Tang, D., Yeung, J., Lee, K. Y., Matsushita, M., Matsui, H., Tomizawa, K., Hatase, O. and Wang, J.
  H. (1995) An isoform of the neuronal cyclin-dependent kinase 5 (Cdk5) activator. J Biol Chem 270, 26897-26903.
- Tannoch, V. J., Hinds, P. W. and Tsai, L. H. (2000) Cell cycle control. Adv Exp Med Biol 465, 127-140.
- Thinakaran, G. and Koo, E. H. (2008) APP trafficking, processing and function. J Biol Chem.
- Tokuoka, H., Saito, T., Yorifuji, H., Wei, F., Kishimoto, T. and Hisanaga, S. (2000) Brain-derived neurotrophic factor-induced phosphorylation of neurofilament-H subunit in primary cultures of embryo rat cortical neurons. *J Cell Sci* **113** ( **Pt 6**), 1059-1068.
- Tomizawa, K., Ohta, J., Matsushita, M., Moriwaki, A., Li, S. T., Takei, K. and Matsui, H. (2002) Cdk5/p35 regulates neurotransmitter release through phosphorylation and downregulation of P/Q-type voltage-dependent calcium channel activity. *J Neurosci* 22, 2590-2597.
- Tomizawa, K., Sunada, S., Lu, Y. F., Oda, Y., Kinuta, M., Ohshima, T., Saito, T., Wei, F. Y., Matsushita, M., Li, S. T., Tsutsui, K., Hisanaga, S., Mikoshiba, K., Takei, K. and Matsui, H. (2003) Cophosphorylation of amphiphysin I and dynamin I by Cdk5 regulates clathrin-mediated endocytosis of synaptic vesicles. *J Cell Biol* 163, 813-824.
- Tsai, L. H., Delalle, I., Caviness, V. S., Jr., Chae, T. and Harlow, E. (1994) p35 is a neural-specific regulatory subunit of cyclin-dependent kinase 5. *Nature* **371**, 419-423.

- Tsai, L. H., Lee, M. S. and Cruz, J. (2004) Cdk5, a therapeutic target for Alzheimer's disease? Biochim Biophys Acta 1697, 137-142.
- Tsai, L. H., Takahashi, T., Caviness, V. S., Jr. and Harlow, E. (1993) Activity and expression pattern of cyclin-dependent kinase 5 in the embryonic mouse nervous system. *Development* 119, 1029-1040.
- Tseng, B. P., Green, K. N., Chan, J. L., Blurton-Jones, M. and Laferla, F. M. (2007) Abeta inhibits the proteasome and enhances amyloid and tau accumulation. *Neurobiol Aging*.
- Tseng, H. C., Zhou, Y., Shen, Y. and Tsai, L. H. (2002) A survey of Cdk5 activator p35 and p25 levels in Alzheimer's disease brains. *FEBS Lett* 523, 58-62.
- Vassallo, N. and Herms, J. (2003) Cellular prion protein function in copper homeostasis and redox signalling at the synapse. *J Neurochem* **86**, 538-544.
- Venda, L. L., Cragg, S. J., Buchman, V. L. and Wade-Martins, R. (2010) alpha-Synuclein and dopamine at the crossroads of Parkinson's disease. *Trends Neurosci* 33, 559-568.
- Walter, J., Grunberg, J., Schindzielorz, A. and Haass, C. (1998) Proteolytic fragments of the Alzheimer's disease associated presenilins-1 and -2 are phosphorylated in vivo by distinct cellular mechanisms. *Biochemistry* **37**, 5961-5967.
- Wang, G. R., Shi, S., Gao, C., Zhang, B. Y., Tian, C., Dong, C. F., Zhou, R. M., Li, X. L., Chen, C., Han, J. and Dong, X. P. (2010) Changes of tau profiles in brains of the hamsters infected with scrapie strains 263 K or 139 A possibly associated with the alteration of phosphate kinases. *BMC Infect Dis* 10, 86.
- Wang, J., Liu, S., Fu, Y., Wang, J. H. and Lu, Y. (2003) Cdk5 activation induces hippocampal CA1 cell death by directly phosphorylating NMDA receptors. *Nat Neurosci* 6, 1039-1047.
- Wang, J. Z., Grundke-Iqbal, I. and Iqbal, K. (2007) Kinases and phosphatases and tau sites involved in Alzheimer neurofibrillary degeneration. *Eur J Neurosci* **25**, 59-68.
- Wang, Y., Zhang, J. X., Du, X. X., Zhao, L., Tian, Q., Zhu, L. Q., Wang, S. H. and Wang, J. Z. (2008) Temporal correlation of the memory deficit with Alzheimer-like lesions induced by activation of glycogen synthase kinase-3. *J Neurochem*.

Weinberg, R. A. (1995) The retinoblastoma protein and cell cycle control. Cell 81, 323-330.

- Wen, Y., Yang, S., Liu, R. and Simpkins, J. W. (2005) Cell-cycle regulators are involved in transient cerebral ischemia induced neuronal apoptosis in female rats. *FEBS Lett* 579, 4591-4599.
- Wen, Y., Yang, S. H., Liu, R., Perez, E. J., Brun-Zinkernagel, A. M., Koulen, P. and Simpkins, J. W. (2007) Cdk5 is involved in NFT-like tauopathy induced by transient cerebral ischemia in female rats. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1772, 473-483.
- Wimo, A. and Prince, M. (2010) Alzheimer's Disease International World Alzheimer's Report 2010"The Global Economic Impact of Dementia".
- Wu, H. Y. and Lynch, D. R. (2006) Calpain and synaptic function. Mol Neurobiol 33, 215-236.
- Wu, Q., Combs, C., Cannady, S. B., Geldmacher, D. S. and Herrup, K. (2000) Beta-amyloid activated microglia induce cell cycling and cell death in cultured cortical neurons. *Neurobiol Aging* 21, 797-806.
- Xie, F., Raetzman, L. T. and Siegel, R. E. (2004) Neuregulin induces GABAA receptor beta2 subunit expression in cultured rat cerebellar granule neurons by activating multiple signaling pathways. *J Neurochem* **90**, 1521-1529.
- Yadavalli, R., Guttmann, R. P., Seward, T., Centers, A. P., Williamson, R. A. and Telling, G. C. (2004) Calpain-dependent endoproteolytic cleavage of PrPSc modulates scrapie prion propagation. *J Biol Chem* 279, 21948-21956.
- Yang, Y., Varvel, N. H., Lamb, B. T. and Herrup, K. (2006) Ectopic cell cycle events link human Alzheimer's disease and amyloid precursor protein transgenic mouse models. *J Neurosci* 26, 775-784.
- Zadran, S., Bi, X. and Baudry, M. (2010) Regulation of calpain-2 in neurons: implications for synaptic plasticity. *Mol Neurobiol* 42, 143-150.
- Zhang, J., Cicero, S. A., Wang, L., Romito-Digiacomo, R. R., Yang, Y. and Herrup, K. (2008a) Nuclear localization of Cdk5 is a key determinant in the postmitotic state of neurons. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **105**, 8772-8777.

- Zhang, J., Li, H., Yabut, O., Fitzpatrick, H., D'Arcangelo, G. and Herrup, K. (2010) Cdk5 suppresses the neuronal cell cycle by disrupting the E2F1-DP1 complex. *J Neurosci* **30**, 5219-5228.
- Zhang, S., Edelmann, L., Liu, J., Crandall, J. E. and Morabito, M. A. (2008b) Cdk5 regulates the phosphorylation of tyrosine 1472 NR2B and the surface expression of NMDA receptors. J Neurosci 28, 415-424.
- Zheng, M., Leung, C. L. and Liem, R. K. (1998) Region-specific expression of cyclin-dependent kinase 5 (cdk5) and its activators, p35 and p39, in the developing and adult rat central nervous system. *J Neurobiol* 35, 141-159.
- Zhu, Y. S., Saito, T., Asada, A., Maekawa, S. and Hisanaga, S. (2005) Activation of latent cyclindependent kinase 5 (Cdk5)-p35 complexes by membrane dissociation. *J Neurochem* 94, 1535-1545.
- Zomosa-Signoret, V., Arnaud, J. D., Fontes, P., Alvarez-Martinez, M. T. and Liautard, J. P. (2008) Physiological role of the cellular prion protein. *Vet Res* **39**, 9.
- Zukerberg, L. R., Patrick, G. N., Nikolic, M., Humbert, S., Wu, C. L., Lanier, L. M., Gertler, F. B., Vidal, M., Van Etten, R. A. and Tsai, L. H. (2000) Cables links Cdk5 and c-Abl and facilitates Cdk5 tyrosine phosphorylation, kinase upregulation, and neurite outgrowth. *Neuron* 26, 633-646.

#### 7. FIGURE LEGENDS

#### Figure 1. Schematic representation of Cdk5 dysregulation by Aß or PrP peptides

Neurons exposed to  $A\beta$  or PrP suffer a dysregulation in Ca<sup>2+</sup> homeostasis, caused mainly by an influx through NMDA receptors and voltage-sensitive Ca<sup>2+</sup> channels (in the case of A $\beta$ ) and non-selective ion channels (for PrP peptides), and potentiated by a calcium-induced calcium release from intracellular compartments, in particular the endoplasmic reticulum. This increase of the intracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup> level will trigger the overactivation of calpains, which in turn will cleave the normal Cdk5 activator p35 to the pathogenic form p25. The augment in p25 levels promotes the formation of a hyperactive p25/Cdk5 complex, which, amongst other toxic effects, is responsible for the

hyperphosphorylation of the cytoskeleton protein tau, which will accumulate in the cytoplasm as paired helical filaments and neurofibrillary tangles.

#### Figure 2. Cdk5 is a key molecule in the cell cycle re-entry triggered by Aβ

Besides the cytoplasm, Cdk5 is also known to be located in the nucleus, where the Cdk5/p35 complex will stabilize p27, a protein known to affect multiple processes in neurons, including cell cycle suppression. Furthermore, Cdk5/p35, by associating with E2F-1, blocks the binding of this nuclear factor with its activator DP1, thus halting the cell cycle in post-mitotic neurons. However, the cleavage of p35 to p25 triggered by A $\beta$  (and possibly by other stimuli associated with different neurodegenerative pathologies, such as prion peptides, SOD1 mutations or ischemia) causes the disruption of this complex. Cdk5 is shuttled to the cytoplasm and, in the nucleus, the association of E2F-1 with DP1, as well as anupregulation of different proteins, such as the Cdks 2, 4 and 6, will induce the progression from the G1 to the S phase, where DNA replication will occur. However, these cell cycle active neurons do not overcome the G2/M checkpoint, probably exiting the cell cycle somewhere along the S or the G2 phases and advancing through the apoptotic pathway.

#### Figure 3. Cdk5 in different pathways of neurodegeneration

Although the triggering stimuli may be diverse, Cdk5 dysregulation appears to depend on the disruption of intracellular calcium homeostasis, generally do to an excessive activation of ionotropic glutamate receptors. One of the main consequences from Cdk5 overactivation is the excessive phosphorylation of the cytoskeleton protein tau, which correlates with the synaptic loss and formation of neurofibrillary tangles in AD and in some PRE, conducing also to neuronal death. Similarly, Cdk5 phosphorylates  $\alpha$ -synuclein and parkin, two proteins involved in the pathogenesis of PD. Cdk5 is also a trigger for synaptic dysfunction via the phosphorylation of PSD-95 leading to the internalization and degradation of NMDA receptors. Cell cycle reactivation has also been recently linked to changes in the activity and localization of Cdk5. However, this cell cycle is not fully completed and the neurons exhibit activation of pro-apoptotic proteins of the Bcl-2 family and consequent caspase-3 activation.

Recent studies have further shown that cell cycle re-entry leads to AD-like changes such as increased  $A\beta$  and APP levels. Cdk5 can also influence  $A\beta$  production both by altering APP processing via the phosphorylation of this transmembrane protein and by modulating the activity of presenilins. The capacity of the cells to handle oxidative stress is also impaired by Cdk5 dysregulation, as is demonstrated by the inactivation of the peroxidase Prx2, via Cdk5 phosphorylation, in PD and ALS. Altogether, these evidences clearly point out Cdk5 dysregulation as a major step in the neurodegeneration pathways of diverse neurological disorders.

کر





